Sergio Cardenas David Evans Peter Holland Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico

April 2017

Impact Evaluation Report 57

Education



About 3ie

The International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie) is an international grant-making NGO promoting evidence-informed development policies and programmes. We are the global leader in funding, producing and synthesising high-quality evidence of what works, how, why and at what cost. We believe that better and policy-relevant evidence will help make development more effective and improve people's lives.

3ie impact evaluations

3ie-supported impact evaluations assess the difference a development intervention has made to social and economic outcomes. 3ie is committed to funding rigorous evaluations that include a theory-based design, use the most appropriate mix of methods to capture outcomes and are useful in complex development contexts.

About this report

3ie accepted the final version of this report, *Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico*, as partial fulfilment of requirements under grant OW3.1079 issued under Open Window 3. The content has been copy-edited and formatted for publication by 3ie. All of the content is the sole responsibility of the authors and does not represent the opinions of 3ie, its donors or its board of commissioners. Any errors and omissions are the sole responsibility of the author, Sergio Cardenas at scardenasd@gmail.com.

Funding for this impact evaluation was provided by 3ie's donors, which include UK Aid, the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation and the Hewlett Foundation. A complete listing of all of 3ie's donors is available on the <u>3ie website</u>.

Suggested citation: Cardenas, S, Evans, D and Holland, P, 2017. *Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57.* New Delhi: International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie)

3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series executive editor: Beryl Leach

Production manager: Angel Kharya Assistant production manager: Akarsh Gupta Copy editor: Scriptoria Proofreader: Sarah Chatwin Cover design: John F McGill Printer: Via Interactive Cover photo: Nelo Mijangos

© International Initiative for Impact Evaluation (3ie), 2017

Estimating the effects of a low-cost early stimulation and parenting education programme in Mexico

Sergio Cardenas Centro de Investigación y Docencia Económicas

David Evans World Bank

Peter Holland World Bank¹

3ie Impact Evaluation Report 57

April 2017



¹ Authors are listed in alphabetical order. All authors are equal and primary coauthors.

Acknowledgements

We thank 3ie, the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation. Its financial and technical support was fundamental to conducting this study. In particular, we thank Stuti Tripathi, Tara Kaul and Minna Madhok, for their endless patience, helpful comments and valuable support.

We would like to acknowledge the contributions from Roberto Arriaga, Francisco Cabrera, David Sanchez, Gabriela Yañez and Fei Yuan in writing this report.

We are grateful to Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo (CONAFE) for their collaboration and willingness to evaluate their Programa Educación Inicial (PEI or 'early education programme'), responding to all the methodological requirements and impact evaluation demands. We give special thanks to Arturo Saenz, Carolina Viggiano, Joel Guerrero, Lucero Nava, Dolores Ramirez, José Rocha and Alfonso González for their support in conducting this research project. In addition, we thank the six local staff and facilitators from CONAFE, whose work was central for this study.

We are also grateful to Arturo Aguilar, Alexander Elbittar, Robert Myers, David Calderon, Jimena Lazcano, Paola Martinez, Sebastian Martinez, Luis Medina and Edgar Ramirez for their helpful feedback and support. In addition, we thank Roberto Arriaga, Francisco Cabrera, Everardo Chiapa, Daniel Edeza, Iván Garcia, Eugenia Garduño, Cesar Garrido, Karen Garrido, Anne Hand, José Legorreta, Ismael Martinez, Alejandra Medina, Ana Razo, Anaid Reyes, Augusto Reza, Nora Salazar, David Sanchez, Dafne Vergara, Katsumi Yamaguchi, Gabriela Yañez and Fei Yuan. Their commitment to this project as project coordinators, research assistants or field researchers was outstanding.

Finally, we thank Centro de Investigación y Docencia Económicas (CIDE). Support from David Arellano, Guillermo Cejudo, Jacqueline Hernández, Roberto Ibarra, Sergio Lopez, Juan Torres and Quitzia Zepeda was fundamental to the conclusion of this evaluation.

Summary

In Mexico today, and in Latin America more broadly, there are a range of programmes seeking to invest in children at early ages (Myers *et al.* 2013) because of the frequently reported positive effects associated with these interventions. This study examines the results of one of these programmes, Programa Educación Inicial (shortened to PEI, meaning 'early education programme') run by the Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo or National Council for Education Development in Mexico. This is a non-formal education programme providing training to pregnant women, parents (male and female) and caregivers of children between 0 and 4 years of age, living in highly marginalised, rural communities located across Mexico.

This programme is based on activities performed by community facilitators known as *promotoras* ('promoters'). These are individuals residing in the community who receive two weeks of training every year along with a supply of educational materials, a small monthly stipend and sporadic coaching by a full-time regional supervisor hired and trained by the Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo. *Promotoras* organise up to 65 information sessions (held once or twice a week) with parents, caregivers and children. They implement a training programme over terms lasting nine months of the year, based on a national curriculum and with a competency-based approach. The programme focuses on the development of four main sets of skills: (a) language and communication (which includes health, hygiene and nutrition, among other topics); (b) protection and care (interactions with others, executive function, etc.); (c) personal and social skills (movement, words, etc.); and (d) exploration of one's environment (body control, fine and gross motor skills, representation, etc.).

The intervention includes early stimulation practices to promote the cognitive development of children and the development of adequate parenting practices. It always includes an emphasis on the involvement of male parents.

Between 2012 and 2014, with support from the International Initiative for Impact Evaluation, we collected data in three different waves from nearly 1,000 families living in 126 communities located across 6 states in Mexico. This formed part of a randomised controlled trial to produce solid evidence of the effect this low-cost programme has on parenting practices and child development.² Although take-up of the programme by families was very low, the programme had positive impacts on both parenting practices and child development outcomes. An index of observed parenting practices when interacting with younger children increased 0.34 standard deviations in the first year and was highly statistically significant. Likewise, direct effects on child development were observed for younger children (a 0.15 standard deviation increase both in communication and gross motor skills), although the effects were muted in the second year and among older children.

Observed results suggest that parental training implemented through community-based models can be effectively implemented at a low cost. The results from the qualitative

² For the purpose of this study, effects on development included the measurement of children up to 6 years old, given the design and duration of the study (4-year-old children interviewed/observed in the baseline were interviewed in data collection waves 2 and 3 until they

interviewed/observed in the baseline were interviewed in data collection waves 2 and 3 until they were 6 years old).

data collected also suggest that changes in the implementation process to increase takeup may result in more sustained and diverse impacts. In addition, this study provides lessons regarding the challenges it represents in bringing early childhood care and education to poor, rural and isolated communities.

Contents

Acknowledgements	. i
Summary	ii
List of figures and tables	v
Abbreviations and acronyms	/i
1. Introduction	1
2. Evaluation	3
2.1 Objective of PEI evaluation	3
2.2 Methodology, theory of change and analysis	3
2.3 Key findings 1	2
3. Challenges in implementation and lessons learned2	8
3.1 Quality of public databases and data collection process	8
3.2 Implementation of the intervention	0
3.3 Mixed methods	1
4. Policy implications and next steps	9
4.1 Implication 1: Targeting	9
4.2 Implication 2: Local capacities4	0
4.3 Implication 3: Implementation	0
4.4 Implication 4: Incentives and coordination with other programmes	0
4.5 Implication 5: Local cultures	0
4.6 Implication 6: Type of skills and the magnitude of effects	0
4.7 Implication 7: Construction of an education management information system 4	1
Appendix: Tables	2
References4	8

List of figures and tables

Figure 1: Timeline, data collection process Figure 2: Variables influencing PEI results by 'nested structure' Figure 3: Development of children Figure 4: Health and protection of children Figure 5: Parent/caregiver's personal development Figure 6: Cost comparison between ECCE programmes (2010, USD)	4 6 8 8 9 28
rigure 0. Cost companson between ECCE programmes (2010, 00D)	20
Table 1: Expected parenting/caregivers' practices (male and female) Table 2: Attrition, descriptive statistics	7
Table 3: Balance treatment and control (selected variables, baseline)	11
Table 4: Impact on observed parenting practices on infants and children 0-3 years	14
Table 5: Impact on observed parenting practices on children 3-6 years	15
Table 6: Impact on observed parenting practices on infants and children 0-6 years	16
Table 7: Impact on reported parenting practices on children 0-3 years	17
Table 8: Impact on reported parenting practices on children 3–6 years	20
Table 9: Impact on child development	22
Table 10: Heterogeneous effects on child development based on gender	23
Table 11: Heterogeneous effects of child development based on baseline age of child	
(divided at 36 months)	24
Table 12: Heterogeneous effects of child development based on baseline age of child	
(divided at 22 months)	25
Table 13: Cost estimation (average cost, financial year 2015)	26
Table 14: Cost-effectiveness ratio of the PEI – parenting practices index	27
Table 15: Cost-effectiveness ratio of the PEI – communication or gross motor skills	27

Appendix tables

Table A1: Balance between treated and controls in the baseline	42
Table A2: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 0-3 years	44
Table A3: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 3-6 years	45
Table A4: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 0-6 years	45
Table A5: Impact on reported parenting practices on children aged 3-6 years	46
Table A6: Impact on child development	47

Abbreviations and acronyms

3ie ASQ-3	International Initiative for Impact Evaluation Ages and Stages Questionnaire 3 conditional cash transfer
CIDE	Centro de Investigación y Docencia Económicas (Centre for Economicas
OIDE	Research and Teaching)
CONAFE	Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo (National Council for
	Educational Development)
ECCE	early childhood care and education
ECD	early childhood development
HOME-SF	Home Observation Measurement of the Environment-Short Form
	(National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 Children and Young Adults)
MDE	minimum detectable effect
PEI	Programa de Educación Inicial (early education programme)
PPI	parenting practice index
PRODEI	Programa de Educación Inicial
RCT	randomised controlled trial

1. Introduction

Each year, new studies demonstrate the value of investing early in children. A recent review of research on early childhood development (ECD) programmes in *The Lancet* found that 27 out of 30 ECD programmes in low- and middle-income countries had statistically significant positive impacts on children's cognitive or behavioural development (Engle *et al.* 2011). Other reviews have found similarly positive results (Nores and Barnett 2010; Vegas and Santibáñez 2010). Even more strikingly, a growing number of studies have provided long-term evidence of the returns on these investments, from the Perry Pre-School and Abecedarian programmes in the United States (Heckman *et al.* 2010; Barnett and Masse 2007) to a programme that provided psychosocial stimulation to toddlers in Jamaica (Gertler *et al.* 2014).

While many of these programmes provide direct cognitive stimulation, nutrition, and/or other benefits to participating children, others seek to improve parenting practices through various goals. If successful, improved parenting practices mean that children can enjoy enhanced cognitive stimulation throughout the day, in the evening and on weekends, not just during their attendance at daycare, during visits or through formally organised pre-school programmes.

Furthermore, training a single parent or a couple of parents has the potential to benefit not just one child, but all the children in the family or in that family's close personal network. Therefore, parenting programmes could theoretically have considerably higher child development benefits at significantly lower costs than other common early childhood care and education (ECCE) programme delivery models, such as childcare centres.

Although there have been studies on the effects of various types of ECCE programmes, there is still not sufficient evidence on the outcomes of interventions focused mostly or exclusively on modifying parenting practices. While several studies show that investment in these programmes generates high rates of return for both individuals and governments (UNESCO 2010; Barnett 1996), there are no cost–benefit studies in contexts such as Latin America and Mexico. And there are few studies examining interventions that include male parents or caregivers. This study sought to address the lack of information in these areas and generate rigorous and useful evidence for scholars and decision makers interested in the design and implementation of effective ECCE programmes in developing countries.

In Mexico, ECCE programmes implemented by the federal government, such as the Programa de Educación Inicial (PEI or 'early education programme'), are usually designed to support populations living in areas of extreme poverty. These include those located in rural and semi-rural regions where access to formal education is not efficient or generalised. The relevance of estimating the effects and understanding of how interventions, such as the PEI, may help reduce inequalities in rural and poor communities is better understood after noting that in these areas of Mexico, almost 4 out of 10 people live below the national poverty line (World Bank 2012). Furthermore, considering that 55.3 million people live in poverty across the country (CONEVAL 2015), increasing the effectiveness of government interventions, such as the PEI, may

contribute to achieving a better distribution of educational opportunities among populations traditionally excluded from educational services.

The PEI has been in operation since 1992 under Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo (CONAFE, the National Council for Educational Development), a federal government agency working with rural and poor communities all over the country by providing informal educational services. The implementation of the PEI was initially based on the Programa de Educación Inicial (PRODEI) experience, an early childhood care programme established in 1981 by the Ministry of Education (ACUDE 2013). It is important to note that the total number of communities affected by the programme has significantly increased in the past two decades. By 2015, it had reached nearly 29,000 communities and 455,000 children. In recent years, CONAFE determined to expand the programme to additional communities, with the biggest factors for consideration being the availability of financial resources and local institutional capacities.³

Even though, to the best of our knowledge, no impact evaluation of the PEI had been conducted before this study, this programme has usually been perceived to be an efficient, informal ECCE intervention. Based on the notion that early interventions are necessary to promote social equity, the PEI has been in use for over 20 years in rural communities across Mexico. It represents a public investment of nearly USD30 million for just the financial year 2015.

The PEI supports more children than all other programmes combined (World Bank 2010) and it has greater coverage than any other ECCE programme in the country. Given the role the PEI may play as an effective intervention to reduce social gaps in rural areas across Mexico, new and sound evidence of its impact is relevant for decision makers. Therefore, the main goal of this impact evaluation is to generate rigorous, useful evidence for scholars and decision makers interested in the design and implementation of ECCE programmes in Mexico and in other developing countries.

The main findings of this study can be summarised as follows:

- Parenting practices are positively affected by the implementation of the PEI. An index of observed parent behaviours when interacting with younger children increased 0.34 standard deviations in the first year and was statistically significant; and
- Marginal effects on child development were observed. Direct effects on child development were observed for younger children (a 0.15 increase in standard deviation in both communication and gross motor skills). The effects were more muted in the second year and among older children.

³ It is important to highlight that all the additional communities included in the programme for this study (either as treatment or control communities) had similar characteristics to the rest of the communities previously benefitting from the programme, at least according to the legal requirements. This was an explicit criterion submitted to CONAFE prior to the final selection, given the methodological design of this study. However, it is important to point out that the selection of the six states finally included in the sample was determined by considerations of safety and local institutional capacities.

2. Evaluation

2.1 Objective of PEI evaluation

The PEI is an intervention in which community facilitators known as *promotoras* ('promoters', usually women living in the same rural communities as the programme beneficiaries) are responsible for the organisation of weekly sessions with parents (male and female), caregivers and children. It is based on a curriculum that includes up to 65 sessions over the course of the year. After a short period of training, facilitators collaborate with parents, pregnant women and caregivers to improve parenting practices. This is done through organised weekly meetings in which parents receive information about supporting their children and practise these methods.

The main goal of these activities is to foster the development of infants and children by modifying parenting practices and promoting activities resulting in school readiness. In addition, the PEI provides information and training to pregnant women to improve healthcare during pregnancy. The programme also promotes the implementation of early stimulation practices at home for participating children to stimulate cognitive development, and emphasises the importance of including male parents in these activities.

Unlike other ECCE interventions, facilitators are members of the community who do not work exclusively with the children (they always work in the presence of the parents). Nor do they have permanent facilities or a mandatory professional degree in education, health or psychology. In exchange for their work, facilitators receive a symbolic payment of approximately USD50 every month.⁴

Considering the lack of available evidence about the effectiveness of this programme, the aim of this study is to estimate whether it actually changes parenting practices and influences child cognitive development.

2.2 Methodology, theory of change and analysis

2.2.1 Methodology

To estimate the effects of the PEI, we decided to conduct a randomised controlled trial (RCT). Rural communities were randomly assigned to control and treatment groups. The treatment group experienced implementation of the PEI with all of its components during two terms, each one lasting up to nine months according to the design of this programme (terms start in the autumn and finish in the spring).⁵ During these terms, the *promotoras* were accompanied and monitored by regional supervisors during periodic visits and meetings.

The treatment thus consisted of the implementation of the PEI in a similar manner and conditions as in other rural areas of the country supported by CONAFE. The design of

⁴ *Promotoras* are usually invited by regional supervisors, based on a selection process determined at the national level.

⁵ There were three waves of data collection: baseline (wave 1), at the end of term 1 (wave 2) and at the end of term 2 (wave 3). It is important to mention that, because of the attrition rates observed during the implementation of the RCT, we decided to conduct our analysis based on a difference-in-differences estimator.

the study and the selection of instruments and questionnaires were all aimed at addressing the following research questions:

- 1. What is the impact of the PEI on the physical, cognitive and social-emotional development of children?
- 2. What is the impact of the PEI on the knowledge and behaviour of parents, especially fathers?
- 3. What is the cost and cost-effectiveness of the PEI, which is intended to be low-cost, but effective, compared with other programmes?

For the selection of the final sample, we initially considered a random selection of treatment and control pair communities within each of the six participant states. These states were selected based on their institutional capacity and how safe they were for conducting this study. The communities chosen were studied in addition to those included in previous calls to participate in this programme, thus assuring that treated communities would experience a similar implementation of the PEI.

However, given the reduced number of communities in some of the states, to increase the statistical power of the sample and reduce possible sources of error, we decided to pair communities, when possible, based on nearest neighbour propensity score matching. The goal was to obtain paired treatment-control units that were not significantly different in the variables that could influence the outcome. The only difference was the presence or absence of treatment, in this case the presence of an early education programme.

Based on this method, characteristics of the communities in both groups were similar so that differences in the average performance of children in the treatment group could be mostly attributed to the effects of the intervention. The sampled population is representative of the communities served by CONAFE. Regarding its external validity, findings from this study can be compared with and extrapolated to low-income populations living in rural areas with limited access to formal educational services.

Quantitative data were collected using three different sets of questionnaires. In each wave, we administered a questionnaire to caregivers that measured participation in the programme (in treatment communities) and caregiver parenting practices (in both types of communities). We interviewed pregnant women and male parents in addition to using the household questionnaire. Interviewers also observed and reported interactions between children and caregivers using items from the HOME-SF scale (Bradley and Caldwell 1984; Bradley *et al.* 1992; Bureau of Labor Statistics 2012).

Figure 1: Timeline, data collection process



Finally, to measure child development, we relied upon the Ages and Stages Questionnaire or ASQ-3 (Squires and Bricker 2009). This captures child development across five areas: communication, gross motor skills, fine motor skills, problem solving and social-emotional development.⁶ One of the advantages of the ASQ-3 over other options is that it can be applied by anyone with experience in childcare (parents or caregivers themselves can administer the questionnaire). In addition, the test is flexible in monitoring the skills expected in children based on their age. An additional advantage is that a version applicable to Spanish-speaking contexts has been developed.

The number of questionnaires administered per household was determined by the number of children attending PEI sessions or, in the case of the comparison group, that would eventually attend, but it never surpassed three per visited home. The questionnaire was administered directly to children by field researchers with support from the principal caregiver.

2.2.2 Theory of change

Several programmes are currently being implemented in Latin America to invest in children at early ages (Myers *et al.* 2013) supported by evidence highlighting 'strong associations' between socio-economic status and cognitive measurements (Paxson and Schady 2007). CONAFE's PEI is an example of these interventions as a non-formal education programme. It seeks to develop 13 competencies among children and an additional set of skills for parents through group sessions held in local communities. The main assumption behind the programme is that by organising non-formal instructional group activities, it is possible to develop competencies among children, parents (male and female), caregivers and future mothers.

An important characteristic of the PEI is its community-based implementation (Araujo, López-Boo and Puyana 2013). As described by Vegas and Santibáñez (2010), the PEI 'has strong family and community participation components [...] community participation includes selecting [*promotoras*], providing spaces for educational sessions, convening community meetings for monitoring and evaluation activities (for example, to learn about programme progress and conduct self-evaluations), requesting the support of the authorities, and interacting with them as needed". As expected, this model is efficient (low training costs, low-cost educational materials, and use of community resources for the organisation of sessions [e.g. materials, occasional meals, and location], and limited supervision). *Promotoras* run up to 65 group sessions during each nine-month term.⁷

The curriculum guiding this intervention is centred on a competency-based approach with a set of four main competencies:

⁶ This instrument was built by Diane Bricker and Jane Squires from the University of Oregon. It is recognised by several organisations, including the American Academy of Neurology, the Child Neurology Society and First Signs, as a high-quality instrument for the detection of strengths and weaknesses of social and emotional development in children. The questionnaire is different depending on the specific age of the child in months: 2, 4, 6, 8, 10, 12, 14, 16, 18, 20, 22, 24, 27, 30, 33, 36 and 42 months old. There is no significant difference regarding the number of items in each instrument.

⁷ Four types of sessions are organised: (a) up to 26 sessions for caregivers and parents (male and female); (b) up to 5 sessions for male parents; (c) up to 18 sessions for caregivers and parents (male and female) focused on children; and (d) up to 8 sessions for pregnant women. In addition, *promotoras* may organise up to 8 additional sessions for diagnosis, planning and evaluation.

- language and communication (which includes health, hygiene and nutrition, among other topics)
- personal protection and self-care (interactions with others, executive function, etc.)
- personal and social skills (movement, words, etc.)
- exploration of one's environment (body control, fine and gross motor skills, representation, etc.).⁸

By participating in these meetings, parents and caregivers receive information and training covering four main topics: (a) childcare and protection; (b) individual and social development; (c) language and communication; and (d) exploration and knowledge of the environment.

The community-based implementation model adopted by the PEI is explained by the adaptation of Bronfenbrenner's 'ecological model of human development' (1994), in which 'human development takes place through a process of progressively more complex reciprocal interactions between an active, evolving biopsychological human organism and the persons, objects, and symbols in the immediate environment'.

Based on this model, the PEI uses a participatory approach in which any member of the community may influence the results and outcomes that children from the community achieve. This justifies community involvement in the PEI not only from an economic perspective, but also because of the relevance of community engagement as a way to ensure that younger members of the community receive adequate support during critical development stages. See Figure 2 for a representation of this approach as implemented in the PEI.⁹





⁸ The main goal is to develop among children the following competencies: language and communication, healthy practices, hygiene and nutrition, interactions with others, executive function, personal and social skills, body control, fine and gross motor skills, and representation, among others.

⁹ It is important to point out, however, that several key factors affect the participation of parents and children. There seems to be a low expectation among parents and caregivers. There is a lack of organisation in sessions and a lack of knowledge of the programme among caregivers and parents. There are insufficient educational materials and a lack of effective training and technical support for *promotoras*. There is a lack of incentives, as used in other social programmes implemented in the same communities (such as PROSPERA, a conditional cash transfer programme targeted at the poorest regions of the country).

According to this model, every factor identified in each level will represent different 'activities, social roles, and interpersonal relations experienced by the developing person' (Bronfenbrenner 1994). These factors will determine how children acquire competencies that will impact on their development.

Cluster	Expected practices
Child development	 Respect schedules, preferences and routines Identify needs and provide emotional support Foster autonomy and accept preferences Foster self-esteem and confidence, avoid spanking Teach rules and suggest expected behaviour Respond adequately to temper tantrums Recognise achievements and respect decisions Interact constantly with children Teach how to address conflicts Teach how to respect different opinions/interests Talk, ask, sing, provide information Increase vocabulary, read to the children Show affection Promote physical activity, dancing Foster manual activity Encourage interaction with community Foster observation of environment
Health and child protection	 Learn about health issues during pregnancy and early childhood (nutrition requirements, children's feeding habits and practices) Learn about proper hygiene activities Cleaning common areas/child areas Understand the relevance of vaccination Avoid dangerous situations (drowning, sharp and hot objects)
Parent/caregi ver's personal development	 Reflect on personal skills and ways to support learning Identify learning opportunities Collaboration and teamwork Understand others' perspectives Reflect on results from own decisions Organise community projects

Table 1: Expected	parenting/caregivers'	practices	(male and female)
Tuble 1. Expected	parenting/caregivers	practices	(maic and icmaic)

Designers of the programme identified three different clusters of competencies to be developed: (a) child development; (b) health and child protection; and (c) parents or caregivers' personal development. Table 1 describes some of the expected parenting practices to be demonstrated by parents as a result of their participation in the PEI.

Figure 3 describes the main competencies to be developed by children and parents (CONAFE 2012). This is a key component of the programme. It describes the specific competencies that children regularly attending sessions should develop, including socialemotional, communication and gross/fine motor skills. It also describes the competencies parents and caregivers must acquire as a means to support children in their communities. Figures 4 and 5 depict the last two groups of competencies. In Figure 4, the competencies relate mostly to child health and protection, for both parents and caregivers. The last set of competencies are expected to be developed only among parents and caregivers as a way to allow effective participation in community activities. These are especially aimed at promoting children's well-being through the implementation of the PEI activities.



Figure 3: Development of children

Figure 4: Health and protection of children







2.2.3 Power analysis

To draw our final sample, CONAFE initially identified a population of 300 communities located in poor or very poor rural areas, all potentially fulfilling the selection requirements. Given the methodological requirements of an RCT, it was necessary to select a sample large enough to conduct a sound comparison between treatment and control groups. The sample size considered during the initial stages of the study was 160 (out of 300 communities).

Based on this number of sites, considering a significance level of 0.05, a correlation coefficient of 0.05, and the minimum number of families to be interviewed, we reached a power of 0.80 with a minimum detectable effect (MDE) size of 0.18 (0.20 if the correlation coefficient was 0.10). Under this estimation, all the communities included in the sample would have at least eight families where at least one child per family was between 0 and 42 months old. In addition, none of these communities should have been part of any ECCE programme – municipal, state or federal – since 2007.

After the 160 communities were randomly selected, we used a pair-wise matching process to assign communities either to the treatment group or the control group to increase comparability between them. However, the low quality of the administrative formats used by CONAFE and the lack of recently updated databases – many had inaccurate information and were missing data – forced us to implement a validation process at every stage.¹⁰

As a result of this validation process, we concluded that some of the selected communities were not eligible to participate in the study. This was mostly because of safety considerations, the possibility that they would lack adequate supervision (thus compromising the implementation of the programme as originally designed), or because similar early care interventions from other public agencies had been implemented among

¹⁰ By implementing this validation, we addressed also the problem of self-selection, given that we requested that communities convene and approve their potential participation in the PEI. We did not inform them whether they would be part of the treatment or the control group. (In addition, no public official from CONAFE knew at this point the result of the random assignment already conducted.)

some of the selected families. When applying this new filter, the sample was reduced to 130 locations (later reduced to 126 because of attrition).¹¹

Table 2 includes descriptive statistics regarding the number of children and caregivers participating in the study after three waves of data collection.¹²

Wave	Child	Iren	Caregivers		
	Treatment	Control	Treatment	Control	
Baseline	797	788	690	672	
2	553	598	472	493	
	(69%)	(76%)	(68%)	(73%)	
3	623	638	505	523	
	(78%)	(81%)	(73%)	(78%)	

Table 2: Attrition, descriptive statistics

2.2.4 Descriptive statistics

Table 3 shows the differences between the treatment and control groups and their statistical significance.¹³ Note that for most of the variables, the treated and control households and individuals do not show significant differences. However, we were concerned by the results for some variables, such as number of members in the family, number of PROSPERA recipient households, and other variables related to parental practices. However, the general balance of most of the variables, plus the use of difference-in-differences, as discussed below, reduced the threat to validity in our estimations.

¹¹ We consequently considered power calculations and changes in the MDE based on the final number of families interviewed. For the 126 communities included in the final sample with roughly 12 households in each, assuming a statistical significance of 95% and an intra-cluster correlation of 0.05, we needed a modest effect of 0.20 in order to achieve a statistical power of 0.80. Doubling the intra-cluster correlation to 0.10 had very little impact on a minimum detectable effect of 0.22. Note that the higher number of households (i.e. 12 households) interviewed, in comparison with what had been anticipated for the original sample (i.e. 8 households), reduced concerns about power and MDE. All sample sizes were calculated using Optimal Design software.

¹² The final initial sample consisted of 64 treatments and 62 controls. In addition, during the validation of the sample, we identified the languages spoken in the communities to be visited by our field researchers: 22 of the sampled communities required interpreters for 6 languages other than Spanish (13 in Chiapas, and 9 in Oaxaca).

¹³ For the balance test on the full set of variables, please see the Appendix.

A. Families	
Size (number of members)	0.7178***
Pregnant women	0.0049
Members who can read and write	0.0001
B. Caregiver	
Age of the child	0.0233
Time living in the community	0.9353
Mentioned a second caregiver	0.0304
PROSPERA recipient	0.0763***
Seguro Popular recipient	0.0121
Procampo recipient	0.0095
Scholarship recipient	0.0121
Senior citizen recipient	0.0063
Economic support from someone in the country	0.0033
Economic support from someone outside the country	0.0016
Was treated in a government clinic	0.0304
C. Children 0 to 36 months	
Children's books	0.0611
Storytelling	0.4009***
Frequency with which child eats with the father	0.0849
Frequency of speaking with child	0.0936
Closeness of child with the father	0.0241
Closeness of child with the mother	0.0176
Corporal punishment	0.0808
D. Father	
Plays with the child	0.0000
Helps in preparing the child's meals	0.1190
Helps to feed the child	0.1690***
Helps to dress the child	0.0960
Educational achievement expectations	0.1560
Pre-school registration	0.0000
E. Social behaviour (caregiver)	
Smokes	0.0670
Speaks with family to solve problems	0.0610
Speaks with family when sad	0.0330
Speaks with family when angry	0.0830
Drinks alcoholic beverages	0.0020
Argues with spouse	0.0360

Table 3: Balance treatment and control (selected variables, baseline)

2.2.5 Analysis

Even though a RCT design is considered the best option to estimate the effect of an intervention, attrition observed in the first stages of the data collection process forced us to explore a different method to estimate the impact of the PEI. Although the characteristics of the treatment and control groups were not significantly different in more than one key factor, we decided to use a difference-in-differences estimator. This would

reduce the probability of erroneously attributing any variation in the selected outcomes to the implementation of the PEI when these changes could be explained by previous differences in characteristics between the comparison (non-random allocation) and the treatment groups (random allocation). Using this estimator, we were able to identify differences in parenting practices and child cognitive development.

To estimate the effect of the PEI, we used a regression model with the following specification:

$$Y_{ft} = \beta_0 + \beta_1 Post + \beta_2 Treatment + \beta_3 Post * Treatment + \varepsilon_{b,t}$$

where Y_{ft} is the outcome variable corresponding to member of the family, *f* (parent or child) in term *t*; *Post* is a variable set to one after the PEI was implemented (term 1 or 2); *Treatment* is a variable set to one if the family *f* lives in any treatment community; Post*Treatment is an interaction to capture the impact of the PEI; and $\varepsilon_{b,t}$ is the error term across families and time/terms. β_0 to β_3 are regression parameters to be estimated. As expected, a statistically significant β_3 parameter would imply differences between treatment and control communities in the outcome of interest explained by participation in the PEI. A positive sign of the parameter would identify whether families in treatment communities positively changed parenting practices, or whether children improved their cognitive development according to the ASQ-3 measures.

In order to identify family members' perceptions regarding changes in parenting practices, seven focus groups were conducted in communities located in four states – Chiapas, State of Mexico, Puebla and Veracruz. The focus groups were organised to discover the perceptions, motivations, values and emotions of the programme beneficiaries regarding the operation and effects of the programme, including the overall development of children and the habits and customs of educating children.

2.3 Key findings

2.3.1 Parenting practices

Based on our analysis, **we did observe very modest improvements in parental behaviour despite the low level of programme participation**. The questionnaire included different observation items for children aged 0–3 years than it did for children aged 3–6 years.¹⁴ The results for children aged 0–3 years are reported in Table 4.

After the first year of the programme, a principal components index of all nine observed practices reveals an improvement of 0.34 standard deviations. This is statistically significant at the 5% level. At the end of the second year, the improvement in the index is roughly half that size and is no longer statistically significant. We believe that an MDE of 0.22 (considering an intra-cluster correlation of 0.1 and a power of 0.80) is high enough to discard most of the small statistically significant effects in our sample. For the same reason, the **few significant effects found would be considered robust and strong**.

¹⁴ Even though the PEI only supports children from 0 to 4 years old, we collected data from children up to 6 years old, given the design of the study. Children who were 3 years old during the baseline were interviewed twice in data collection waves 1 and 2.

Similarly, the span of time observed (three years) might not be sufficient to observe significant effects in many dimensions.¹⁵ In terms of individual practices, almost all are positive. In the first year, caregivers were 0.14 standard deviations (statistically significant) more likely to respond to their child (i.e. if the child spoke to the caregiver during the interview). In the second year, caregivers were significantly more likely to hug or kiss the child during the interview (0.12 standard deviations).

For older children, aged 3–6 years, **we observed no statistically significant differences in the index of observed caregiver behaviour** (Table 5). The few significant differences in individual actions actually move in unexpected directions, suggesting slightly poorer caregiver practices. These estimates are based on a much smaller sample. While the most reliable estimate is the statistically significant index effect, this may suggest the higher value of this intervention at the earliest ages.

Because some children fell into the younger group during the first follow-up and then into the older group during the second follow-up, we estimated one further specification. This used just the seven caregiver practices that were observed across all ages and included all children (Table 6). Ultimately, this is a weighted average of the previous two estimates with significantly more weight given to the younger group because they are the larger sample. Consistently, the observed practice index effects are positive although not statistically significant.

There are many caregiver practices that cannot be observed directly during the course of a one-hour visit. Thus, we complemented the earlier analysis with caregiver own reports of behaviour. For the younger children, these data are reported in Table 7.

Three practices are statistically significant at the 5% or 1% level. First, **children in treatment households were 45% more likely to have more than one book (1% significance). They watch 0.3 fewer hours of television on weekdays (5%), and watch 0.4 fewer hours of television on weekends (1%).** Second, marginally significant results indicate that the **child is slightly less likely to be reported to be 'very attached' to the mother, which is normatively ambivalent depending on how respondents interpret attachment.** On the one hand, high attachment and affection are positive; on the other, reduced attachment could be interpreted by respondents as greater independence, also a positive outcome.

Finally, children in treatment households were 10% less likely to leave the house more than once a week (90%).

¹⁵ Additionally, it is important to consider whether the significant results are a matter of chance rather than the true effects of the intervention, if we consider that most of the outcomes are non-significant. In order to address this concern, we computed the False discovery rate represented by the q-values using the Benjamini and Hochberg (1995) method. Q-values exhibit, for each corresponding p-value, the proportion of the rejected null hypotheses that are erroneously rejected. All q-values for all the average estimations included in this document are presented in the Appendix (Tables A1 to A6) and suggest a low chance that the significant p-values represent a false discovery for most of the outcomes. According to this method, results should be considered carefully where q-values are higher than 0.1, although it is important to remember that the use of this model is very sensitive to the size of the sample.

	Together with child	Spoke to child	Responded to child	Hugged/ kissed child	Spanking	Interfered with child's actions	Gave games	Kept child in sight	Safe play place	Observed practice index
T*W1	0.05	0.05	0.14**	0.06	-0.02	-0.03	0.04	0.04	0.06	0.34**
	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.02)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.14)
T*W2	0.05	0.01	-0.04	0.12*	0.02	-0.01	0.10	0.02	-0.02	0.18
	(0.04)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.02)	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.16)
W1	-0.07***	0.04	-0.04	-0.02	0.01	-0.03	-0.08*	0.05*	0.04	0.04
	(0.02)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.01)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)
W2	-0.11***	0.07	0.03	-0.10*	-0.01	-0.10***	-0.12**	0.08***	0.09*	0.07
	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.04)
Control average	0.97	0.72	0.71	0.70	0.02	0.17	0.32	0.86	0.78	0.00
Ν	1,164	1,163	1,164	1,163	1,162	1,162	1,162	1,163	1,154	1,164

Table 4: Impact on observed parenting practices on infants and children 0–3 years

.

	Together	Spoke	Responded	Hugged/	Introduced	Restricted	Spanking	g Positive	Safe	Dark	Clean	House	Observed
	with child	to child	to child	kissed	children	child's		attitude	play	house	rooms	not	practice
				child		actions			place			packed	index
T*W1	-0.06	-0.03	-0.05	-0.03	0.05	-0.06*	-0.01	-0.09	0.01	-0.13	-0.06	-0.11	-0.10
	(0.06)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.11)	(0.11)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.10)	(0.23)
T*W2	-0.12**	-0.12	-0.09	0.01	0.03	-0.04	0.01	-0.14*	-0.05	-0.11	-0.02	-0.02	-0.26
	(0.06)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.11)	(0.10)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.10)	(0.23)
W1	0.03	0.03	0.01	-0.01	0.05	0.05*	-0.02	0 1/1**	0.01	-0.06	0.00	0 1/1**	0.00
	0.05	0.05	0.01	-0.01	0.00	0.05	-0.02	0.14	0.01	-0.00	0.03	0.14	0.03
	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.15)
N/2	0.04	0.07	0.02	0.02	0 1 / **	0.01	0.04	0 12**	0 15**	0.00	0 1 / **	0.07***	0.17
VV Z	0.04	0.07	-0.03	-0.02	0.14	0.01	-0.04	0.13	0.15	-0.09	0.14	0.27	0.17
	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.15)
Control	0.91	0.75	0.80	0.58	0.44	0.03	0.05	0.75	0.66	0.32	0.71	0.17	-0.04
average													
Number of caregivers	185	177	178	185	175	174	183	175	183	174	174	174	185

 Table 5: Impact on observed parenting practices on children 3–6 years

	Together with child	Spoke to child	Responded to child	Hugged/ kissed child	Spanking	Interfered with child's actions	Safe play place	Observed practice index
T*W1	0.03	0.04	0.10**	0.02	-0.02	-0.04	0.05	0.22
	(0.02)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.12)
T*W2	-0.01	-0.03	0.03	0.04	0.00	-0.01	-0.02	0.04
	(0.03)	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.14)
W1	-0.06***	0.02	-0.02	-0.05	0.01	-0.05*	-0.02	-0.10
	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.03)	(0.01)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.07)
W2	-0.08***	0.06	-0.02	-0.12***	-0.01	-0.12***	0.05	-0.03
	(0.02)	(0.04)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.01)	(0.02)	(0.03)	(0.09)
Control average	0.96	0.73	0.73	0.68	0.02	0.15	0.76	0.00
Number of caregivers	1,346	1,339	1,339	1,345	1,342	1,335	1,334	1,346

Table 6: Impact on observed	parenting practices on	infants and children 0–6	years

Table 7: Impact on reported parenting practices on children 0–3 years

	T*W1	T*W2	W1	W2	Control Average	Number of caregivers
The child went out of house more than once a week	-0.10*	0.01	0.06	0.03	0.56	1,162
	(0.06)	(0.09)	(0.04)	(0.06)		
The child had more than one book	0.45**	-0.01	0.15***	0.27***	0.30	1,163
	(0.05)	(0.07)	(0.03)	(0.05)		
Told stories some times per year	0.01	-0.04	0.19***	0.31***	0.49	1,165
	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.04)		
Took the child to market at least once a week	-0.07	-0.05	0.11***	0.14***	0.73	1,164
	(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.05)		
The child had more than 2 dolls or stuffed animals	0.00	0.01	0.10***	0.14***	0.67	1,158
	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.04)		
The child had more than 2 toys to push or pull	-0.05	-0.03	0.12***	0.07*	0.21	1,163
	(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.03)	(0.04)		
Believed they should teach their children	-0.01	-0.02	0.04	0.01	0.89	1,165
	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.03)		

	T*W1	T*W2	W1	W2	Control Average	Number of caregivers
How much TV watched at home on weekdays? (Hours)	-	0.18	0.52***	0.39**	0.79	1,162
	0.31**	(0.21)	(0.12)	(0.16)		
	(0.16)	. ,	. ,	. ,		
How much TV watched somewhere else on weekdays? (Hours)	-0.04	0.09	0.09**	0.03	0.17	1,165
	(0.07)	(0.09)	(0.05)	(0.04)		
How much TV watched at home on weekends? (Hours)	-	-0.13	0.52***	0.51***	0.58	1,165
	0.41** *	(0.15)	(0.10)	(0.11)		
	(0.14)					
How much TV watched somewhere else on weekend?	-0.02	0.00	0.02	0.04	0.19	1.165
(Hours)	(0.08)	(0.11)	(0.05)	(0.07)		
How long is the TV on? (Hours)	-0.15	0.62	0.38	10.22**	2.75	1,114
	(0.48)	(4.13)	(0.35)	*		
				(2.66)		
Parents lived together	-0.03	0.00	0.04**	0.06**	0.85	1,163
	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.02)	(0.02)		
The child saw the father every day	0.02	0.09*	0.00	-0.06*	0.82	1,097

	T*W1	T*W2	W1	W2	Control Average	Number of caregivers
	(0.03)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.03)		
The child ate with parents more than once a day	0.03	0.06	0.03	0.01	0.75	1,099
	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.03)	(0.04)		
The child was very attached to father	-0.04	-0.01	0.11***	0.14***	0.60	1,164
	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.04)	(0.05)		
Responded to children when they required attention even if	0.07	0.05	-0.12***	-0.21***	0.55	1,164
busy	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.04)	(0.05)		
The child was very attached to the mother	-0.07*	0.02	0.02	-0.02	0.86	1,165
	(0.04)	(0.06)	(0.02)	(0.04)		
How many spankings in the past week?	0.09	-0.24	0.24**	0.54***	0.71	1,163
	(0.20)	(0.19)	(0.12)	(0.12)		

Note: Community fixed effects included. Standard errors clustered at community level. T = treatment; W1 = data collection after term 1; W2 = data collection after term 2.

For older children, caregiver-reported outcomes are listed in Table 8. There are no significant differences except for a reduction in the number of spankings in the past week by 0.55 (90 per cent significance). As with the observed behaviour, the programme seems to have much less of an effect among the older children (variations in the number of caregivers is explained by missing data).

	T*W1	T*W2	W1	W2	Control average	Number of caregivers
Told stories at least once a week	-0.05	-0.08	0.13**	0.20***	0.41	103
	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.41	195
The child had more than one book	0.00	-0.13*	0.13**	0.22***	0.50	196
	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.50	130
There was a magazine at home	0.02	0.01	0.01	0.03	0.36	100
	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.50	190
The child had an instrument to listen to music	-0.14	-0.1	0.11**	0.08	0.40	180
	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.40	109
The child could listen to tapes	-0.17	-0.12	0.16**	0.12	0.76	8/
	(0.11)	(0.10)	(0.08)	(0.07)	0.70	04
Helped learn numbers	-0.08	-0.05	0.09*	0.10***	0.88	180
	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.04)	0.00	109
Helped learn letters	-0.06	-0.07	0.09*	0.13***	0.84	180
	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.04)	0.04	109
Helped learn colours	-0.03	-0.05	0.08	0.12***	0.86	180
	(0.06)	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.04)	0.00	109
Helped learn shapes and dimensions	0.00	-0.05	0.14**	0.24***	0 60	180
	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.03	109
Allowed the child to choose food	0.03	0.06	0.00	-0.02	0.84	100
	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.04)	0.04	190
Took the child out several times	-0.09	-0.10	0.02	0.08	0.52	100
	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.07)	0.52	130
Took the child to a historic place or museum last year	-0.05	-0.03	-0.01	0.00	0.85	100
	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.05)	0.05	190
How much TV watched at home on weekdays? (hours)	-0.16	-0.03	0.42	0.14	1 50	106
	(0.34)	(0.29)	(0.26)	(0.21)	1.50	190
How much TV watched somewhere else on weekdays? (hours)	-0.07	-0.03	0.14	0.01	0.20	106
	(0.13)	(0.13)	(0.09)	(0.11)	0.29	190

Table 8: Impact on reported parenting practices on children 3–6 years

	T*W1	T*W2	W1	W2	Control average	Number of caregivers
How much TV watched at home on weekends? (hours)	0.18	0.12	0.05	0.06	1 14	196
	(0.26)	(0.25)	(0.21)	(0.21)	1.14	130
How much TV watched somewhere else on weekend? (hours)	0.08	0.12	-0.09	-0.09	0.31	106
	(0.15)	(0.14)	(0.12)	(0.12)	0.51	190
How long is the TV on? (hours)	-0.54	-0.47	0.23	7.24***	4 01	190
	(1.41)	(2.35)	(1.09)	(1.89)	4.21	109
Parents lived together	-0.04	-0.08*	0.04	0.06	0 07	106
	(0.05)	(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.04)	0.07	190
The child saw the father every day	0.01	-0.01	0.04	0.05	0.70	100
	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.06)	0.79	100
The child ate with parents more than once a day	0.08	0.02	0.03	0.05	0.74	190
	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.05)	0.74	109
Child very attached to the father	-0.13	-0.03	0.15**	0.12*	0.61	190
	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.06)	(0.07)	0.01	109
Responded to children when they required attention even if busy	-0.05	0.01	-0.06	-0.15**	0.57	101
	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.07)	(0.06)	0.57	194
The child was very attached to the mother	-0.10	-0.05	0	-0.01	0.04	190
	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.05)	(0.05)	0.04	109
How many spankings in the past week?	-0.55*	-0.07	0.29	-0.11	1 00	100
	(0.33)	(0.27)	(0.27)	(0.20)	1.09	192

2.3.2 Child development

Do these modest improvements in parenting have any impact on actual child development? We now turn to the impact of the programme on child development outcomes as measured in the ASQ-3 (Table 9).

We observe statistically significant increases in two child development areas in the first year – communication (0.15 standard deviations) and gross motor skills (also 0.15 standard deviations). While changes in other areas (fine motor skills, problem solving or social-emotional skills) are positive, they are smaller and not statistically significant. A constructed total score also shows a positive, but not statistically significant, improvement.

			Skills			
	Communication	Gross motor	Fine motor	Problem solving	Social	Total
T*W1	0.15*	0.15*	0.08	0.01	0.04	0.11
	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.09)
T*W2	0.09	0.08	-0.06	-0.08	0.00	0.01
	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)
W1	0.0699	0.163***	-0.210***	-0.0357	0.0697	0.0155
	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)
W2	0.195***	0.383***	0.0117	-0.201***	0.252***	0.170***
	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)
Control average	0.00	0.00	-0.01	-0.01	0.00	-0.01
N (children)	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583

Table 9: Impact on child development

Note: Community fixed effects included. Standard errors clustered at community level. T = treatment; W1 = data collection after term 1; W2 = data collection after term 2.

When we segregate the analysis by the gender of the child, effect sizes are roughly similar (Table 10). Statistical significance disappears for both genders on communication, most likely because of statistical power, as the actual effect size is the same as in the joint analysis. The gross motor skill effect is larger for girls in year one than for boys.

			Skills			
	Communication	Gross motor	Fine motor	Problem solving	Social	Total
Girl	0.14***	-0.02	0.09**	0.06	0.15***	0.12***
	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.04)
Girl * T*W1	-0.01	0.08	0.01	0.04	0.07	0.05
	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.10)	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.08)
Girl * Year	0.00	0.02	0.22**	0.01	-0.07	0.06
z *Treatment	(0.09)	(0.07)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.08)	(0.08)
W1	0.07	0.16***	-0.21***	-0.03	0.07	0.02
	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)
W2	0.20***	0.38***	0.01	-0.20***	0.25***	0.17***
	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)
Boy effect	0.15	0.11	0.08	-0.01	0.00	0.09
W1	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.11)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.10)
Boy effect	0.09	0.06	-0.16	-0.08	0.03	-0.02
W2	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.10)
Girl effect	0.14	0.19*	0.13	0.03	0.07	0.14
W1	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.11)
Girl effect	0.10	0.09	0.06	-0.08	-0.04	0.04
W2	(0.10)	(0.08)	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.10)
Control average	-0.07**	0.01	-0.05	-0.04	-0.08**	-0.06*
Number of children	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583

Table 10: Heterogeneous effects on child development based on gender

Note: Community fixed effects included. Standard errors clustered at community level. T = treatment; W1 = data collection after term 1; W2 = data collection after term 2.

Segregating the sample by child age using children older and younger than 36 months, we observe that the child development effects are entirely concentrated among the younger group, the same children for whom caregiver practices improved (Table 11).

			Skills			
	Communication	Gross motor	Fine motor	Problem solving	Social	Total
Younger	-0.29***	-0.44***	-0.16***	0.00	-0.15***	-0.29***
	(0.05)	(0.04)	(0.05)	(0.06)	(0.04)	(0.05)
Younger	-0.067	0.13	0.00	0.26*	0.083	0.11
*W1 * T	(0.11)	(0.09)	(0.12)	(0.13)	(0.09)	(0.11)
Younger	0.35***	0.18**	-0.17	0.15	-0.096	0.12
*W2 * T	(0.11)	(0.08)	(0.11)	(0.12)	(0.08)	(0.08)
W1	0.069	0.16***	-0.21***	-0.036	0.069	0.014
	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)
W2	0.21***	0.40***	0.018	-0.20***	0.26***	0.18***
	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)
Older	0.21	0.05	0.08	-0.20	-0.03	0.03
effect	(0.13)	(0.11)	(0.13)	(0.14)	(0.11)	(0.13)
W1						
Older	-0.20	-0.07	0.09	-0.21	0.08	-0.09
effect	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.14)	(0.14)	(0.10)	(0.11)
W2						
Younger	0.14	0.18**	0.08	0.06	0.05	0.14
W1	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)
Younger	0.15*	0.11	-0.08	-0.06	-0.01	0.03
effect	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.09)
W2						
Control average	0.23***	0.35***	0.12***	-0.0085	0.11***	0.23***
Number of children	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583

Table 11: Heterogeneous effects of child development based on baseline age of child (divided at 36 months)

Note: Community fixed effects included. Standard errors clustered at community level. T = treatment; W1 = data collection after term 1; W2 = data collection after term 2.

If instead we divide the sample at 22 months (Table 12), the median age of children in the sample at the baseline survey, and use this as a test for sensitivity, surprisingly we see more significant impacts. These include impacts on communication among the older group, while gross motor improvements remain concentrated in the younger group. It may be that communication skills are most affected by the programme in the window between 22 and 36 months when speaking tends to begin in earnest.

			Skills			
	Communication	Gross motor	Fine motor	Problem solving	Social	Total
Young	-0.20***	-0.39***	-0.02	0.07	-0.07*	-0.16***
	(0.04)	(0.03)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.04)	(0.04)
Younger	-0.45***	0.08	0.05	-0.08	-0.12	-0.15*
* T	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.08)	(0.09)	(0.08)
Younger	0.03	0.07	-0.27**	0.12	-0.13	-0.05
* T	(0.09)	(0.07)	(0.12)	(0.09)	(0.08)	(0.08)
W1	0.07	0.16***	-0.21***	-0.04	0.07	0.01
	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)	(0.07)	(0.06)	(0.07)
W2	0.20***	0.39***	0.01	-0.20***	0.25***	0.18***
	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)	(0.06)
Older effect	0.35***	0.11	0.06	0.05	0.09	0.18*
W1	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.09)	(0.10)
Older effect	0.08	0.05	0.06	-0.14	0.06	0.03
W2	(0.10)	(0.08)	(0.12)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.10)
Younger	-0.10	0.20**	0.10	0.06	-0.03	0.03
W1	(0.10)	(0.10)	(0.11)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.10)
Younger	0.12	0.12	-0.21**	-0.06	-0.07	-0.02
effect	(0.10)	(0 09)	(0.10)	(0.09)	(0.10)	(0.10)
W2	(0.10)	(0.00)	(0.10)	(0.00)	(0.10)	(0.10)
Control average	0.09***	0.17***	0.00	-0.04	0.03	0.07**
Number of children	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583	1,583

Table 12: Heterogeneous effects of child development based on baseline age of child (divided at 22 months)

2.3.3 Cost-effectiveness analysis of the PEI

As has been noted, 'research estimating the economic returns to early childhood interventions is rare among studies outside the United States' (Nores and Barnett 2010). The main explanation for this condition is the limited number of longitudinal studies with reliable evidence on how some of the known direct effects (e.g. cognitive development) or indirect effects (parenting practices) result in access to higher income or better behaviour (less exposure to risks and imprisonment rates, for instance). Furthermore, as the same authors explain, 'Policy makers should recognize that even the more comprehensive benefit–cost analyses do not take into account all benefits. Some externalities are difficult or impossible to measure from current studies.'

Even though conducting a sound cost-effectiveness analysis requires more detailed and reliable information than is currently available in government offices (e.g. Myers *et al.* 2013), we were able to estimate costs for the implementation of the PEI for the financial year 2015. Based on the information provided by CONAFE, we identified that implementing the PEI in 2015 represented a per capita average annual spending of MXN1100, or nearly USD69.²²

	Expenditure (MXN)	Children	Communities	Per child (MXN)	Community (MXN)
Chiapas	39,185,129.62	27,688	2,020	1,415.24	19,398.58
México	24,391,133.91	43,372	1,747	562.37	13,961.73
Oaxaca	32,432,881.40	26,144	1,752	1,240.55	18,511.92
Puebla	46,585,817.47	42,805	2,425	1,088.33	19,210.65
Querétaro	11,584,423.00	12,085	891	958.58	13,001.68
Veracruz	32,488,195.00	29,374	1,755	1,106.02	18,511.79
National	501,397,377.00	455,415	28,787	1,100.97	17,417.49

Table 13: Cost estimation (average cost, financial year 2015)

We found significant differences in the average costs across states. For instance, Estado de México invested nearly half of the national average for the implementation of the PEI (USD35), while Chiapas invested approximately 30 per cent more than the national average.²³ Based on this data, we were able to conduct our cost-effectiveness analysis, based on the model described by McEwan (2011). Table 14 includes the results we found by estimating the incremental cost-effectiveness ratio in the case of the parenting practices index.

²² It is important to highlight the lack of available and reliable information to conduct this kind of analysis. The Mexican education system is in the process of implementing a reform that includes the establishment of a national evaluation system. However, until very recently, there were limited rules regarding the design of information systems, the use of official databases, and obligations regarding the timing of publication and availability of administrative information.

²³ According to CONAFE, the operation of the PEI requires three different types of expenditures:
(i) books and educational materials; (ii) professional development activities; and (iii) salaries, stipends and operational costs for monitoring (transportation/meetings).

States	Average gain (SD)	Per pupil yearly cost (USD)	Per pupil cost per 0.1 gain (USD)
Chiapas	0.34	88.22	25.95
México	0.34	35.05	10.31
Oaxaca	0.34	77.33	22.74
Puebla	0.34	67.84	19.95
Querétaro	0.34	59.75	17.57
Veracruz	0.34	68.94	20.28
National	0.34	81.08	23.85
Sampled states (6)	0.34	66.19	19.47

Table 14: Cost-effectiveness ratio of the PEI – parenting practices index

Based on these findings, it is possible to identify that, with regards to the parenting practice index (PPI), a 0.1 standard deviation gain would cost on average USD19.47 per pupil for the six states included in our sample. In the case of the national average, the same estimation increases to USD23.85.

An important aspect to be noted is the significant difference regarding the cost of the programme across states. For instance, assuming an average effect across all states, the per pupil cost per 0.1 standard deviation gain in Estado de México will be nearly 50 per cent of the average cost across the six states included in the sample.

Once we estimated the costs regarding the PPI, we considered the incremental costeffectiveness ratio for the other two effects found in our model, gross motor skills and communication skills (each 0.15 standard deviations). Table 15 includes our findings. Given that the effect sizes are nearly half the estimated size effect in the case of the PPI, the per pupil cost per 0.1 gain is higher. The variation already described regarding local expenditures in the PEI across states also represents substantial differences in costs.

States	Average gain (SD)	Per pupil yearly cost (USD)	Per pupil cost per 0.1 gain (USD)
Chiapas	0.15	88.22	11.26
México	0.15	35.05	4.48
Oaxaca	0.15	77.33	9.87
Puebla	0.15	67.84	8.66
Querétaro	0.15	59.75	7.63
Veracruz	0.15	68.94	8.80
National	0.15	81.08	54.05
Sampled states (6)	0.15	66.19	44.13

Table	15: Cost-effectiveness	ratio of the PE	El – communication c	or gross motor
skills				

In addition, we were able to compare the reported costs per child of different ECCE programmes in urban areas implemented in various countries, including Mexico (see Figure 6). Based on this comparison, we can conclude that this programme provides

services at a very low cost. As expected, this may suggest the feasibility of rapid expansion to other areas, although it may also suggest that more resources are required to improve its implementation.

In addition, it creates a new demand for evidence, particularly to understand whether the current allocation of resources (e.g. the low stipends with a single provision of educational materials per year) could be modified to increase the odds of having an impact on other skills or competencies and the magnitude of the identified effects.



Figure 6: Cost comparison between ECCE programmes (2010, USD)

3. Challenges in implementation and lessons learned

3.1 Quality of public databases and data collection process

The original data collection plan considered a larger sample from four states for logistical considerations (control and costs). However, we had to adjust both the size of the sample and the number of states after realising the low quality of the public databases used in the planning and implementation of the PEI. This poor quality was reflected in the lack of control over the number and characteristics of beneficiaries, and the absence of identification of communities where this programme had been implemented. These were certainly factors affecting the final methodological design of this study.

We noticed a lack of policies and protocols for the design and construction of most of the available administrative databases, resulting in additional costs for the appropriate design and implementation of an RCT. The organisation of seminars and workshops helped inform public officials about the requirements for this research method and the characteristics of the information required. However, often we found it necessary to collect data directly prior to planning actual data collection for research purposes.

We also found it useful to conduct validation processes of the administrative information regardless of the type and quantity delivered. Along with the dissemination of the results of the impact of the PEI, it seems useful to organise additional workshops focused primarily on informing research and official public communities about the challenges these studies pose in Mexico.

3.1.1 Coordination across states, delays and variation in quality

Collaboration with state governments and CONAFE's local public officials proved to be demanding. There was huge variation between local offices regarding the availability of information, institutional capacities, commitment, and experience with the implementation of impact evaluation studies. These were additional challenges for the implementation of the study and, in some cases, resulted in delays during the data collection processes.

Collaboration with supervisors and *promotoras* was essential in negotiating access to and reaching rural communities. A key lesson was to cultivate relationships with internal leaders (public officials openly committed to the realisation of this study). Their collaboration proved to be key to assuring the homogeneous implementation of the study. In addition, providing frequent information to all levels of public officials involved in the implementation of the PEI, regarding the implementation of the study, may help to overcome inefficiencies.

3.1.2 Language and translators

One of the main challenges related to the data collection process was to ensure adequate translation during the interviews conducted in rural communities. For this study, we implemented two different strategies. Where possible, we looked for local residents (from the region, not from the same community) who had participated as translators in other activities involving interviews, such as census or data collection for government programmes. Our second strategy was to hire external translation firms with extensive experience regarding data collection (usually through participation in government projects). However, we observed evident variations in quality and training among the translators, resulting in a need for closer monitoring and evaluation by field researchers.

As part of the study, we learned a valuable lesson in requesting the recording of a sample of interviews conducted in languages other than Spanish to validate the quality of the interpretation. As an additional academic product of this project, we plan to publish the results of this validation. It could be a possible measure of the variation that might be expected in the quality of data in future research projects involving interviews in different languages.

3.1.3 Lack of capacity among survey firms

One of the key factors explaining some of the main challenges regarding the data collection process was the lack of experience among survey firms regarding the use of cognitive development tests such as the ASQ-3. Although additional training was organised (including practice in rural communities not included in our sample), a key aspect to be considered is that this type of test requires intensive monitoring and technical support in the field. We decided to provide support *in situ* to field researchers during their visits (our supervisors were extensively trained in the proper administration of ASQ-3). We also provided long-distance support (e.g. by phone or through SMS) for the instructors who trained field researchers in Mexico City.

3.1.4 Cost-effectiveness analysis

A barrier we were not able to overcome was the collection of enough reliable and disaggregate data for the purpose of conducting a sound cost-effectiveness analysis.

Regardless of the fact that results from this type of analysis are not frequently available to the public, an important lesson for future evaluations is to include in the agreements not just access to data being directly collected, but also to administrative data.

In addition, it might be useful to organise a working group to include public officials from the government agency in charge of the programme to be evaluated. This group could define the procedures for the collection or generation of the information requested to conduct an analysis different from that expected in the RCT.

3.2 Implementation of the intervention

Even though the PEI can be considered to have well-defined procedures, observations conducted during the study suggest important variations across states during its implementation. For instance, we observed disparities regarding the availability of educational materials, type of monitoring practices, quality of technical support and characteristics of *promotoras* (e.g. experience, training and knowledge of the programme). This situation made it necessary to collect additional information to inform CONAFE of deficiencies in the implementation of the PEI. Also, it was necessary to request collaboration from state agencies to support supervisors and *promotoras* in implementing the PEI as it was originally designed.

These variations resulted in additional challenges in conducting the analysis, given that the use of covariates capturing variations in the implementation of the PEI was needed (i.e. actual number of available books or the number of organised sessions). It also required the collection of qualitative data (interviews and focus groups) to understand possible inadequacies in the implementation of the PEI.

3.2.1 Change of CONAFE directors

A critical challenge for the implementation of this study was the variation in practices and involvement with the evaluation of all the PEI and CONAFE directors appointed during the realisation of this study (three director-generals of CONAFE during this period). Although this condition is related to the length of this study, we need to consider the extent to which this variation resulted in additional challenges. The main lesson learned was the need to establish a close relationship with the local staff and to directly inform the director-general about the main findings whenever possible.

3.2.2 Low implementation fidelity

As a result of the observations made during the data collection processes, we realised that the fidelity of implementation was relatively low (e.g. low attendance, lack of coaching and lack of textbooks and educational materials). Given this problem, we decided to collect qualitative data to provide further details about the implementation of the programme along with estimates about its impact.

The main lesson learned has been to consider the organisation of the monitoring activities and to document any implementation aspects that might affect the results of the programme. In addition, it might be useful to consider the organisation of workshops or the preparation of reports to inform public officials in charge of the programmes. Furthermore, finding results only for the first year may suggest a declining trend in the fidelity of implementation.

3.2.3 Low take-up

In a given term, *promotoras* could facilitate up to 40 meetings per group. However, collected data suggest that actual attendance was significantly lower. At the baseline, on average, treatment households had attended two meetings. This is consistent with the fact that there were initial organisational meetings in both treatment and comparison communities. At the end of the first year, caregivers reported attending, on average, 11 meetings. At the end of the second year, they reported attending just under nine meetings, on average. However, the median household attended only four meetings during the first year and three during the second year. (Unfortunately, there is no available information from other states in the country regarding take-up.)

Based on information collected through the interviews, there are several factors that could explain this. These include:

- the implementation of conditional cash transfer (CCT) programmes in the same communities (offering incentives for adequate attendance, unlike the PEI)
- the parents' low expectations of the programme
- a lack of empathy with the promotora
- the lack of knowledge among parents regarding the goals and activities of the PEI.

There are several lessons to be learned from this situation, including the need to better inform beneficiaries of the programme and improve coordination between public agencies implementing social programmes in rural regions across Mexico.

3.3 Mixed methods

3.3.1 Qualitative studies

Given the low take-up and low implementation fidelity, conducting a qualitative study through the organisation of focus groups with parents and caregivers was a key aspect for a better interpretation of findings from our quantitative analysis. The results from this study informed our interpretation, provided information to those implementing the programme and helped identify some of the possible policy implications.

The purpose of the focus groups was to report beneficiaries' perceptions regarding the effects and implementation of the programme. To this end, we conducted 7 focus groups in 4 of the 6 states included in the study and involved communities with at least 10 households already registered in the programme. To conduct meetings in each community programme, beneficiaries who had attended sessions for at least three months were invited to participate voluntarily. From the information collected, the findings were grouped into five major areas:

- What is known about the PEI and CONAFE?
- What are the perceived changes: attitudes, practices and motivations?
- What interactions were there with other participants?
- What were the barriers to participation?
- What improvements were suggested?

What is known about the PEI and CONAFE?

Members of all seven groups were invited to participate in the programme by a *promotora*. In some cases, the participants were unable to identify the affiliation or institutional position of the public official who invited them to participate in the PEI. This also applied to recommendations by neighbours or relatives already involved. In every case, the reference came through a female (except when the *promotora* was a male member of the community).

Additionally, the beneficiaries had no clear idea of the institution that operates and coordinates the programme or the origin of its financial support. They did not know about CONAFE, nor did they know whether the programme was funded and promoted by the municipal, state or federal government. All groups defined the programme as being very similar to a school for parents (some differences in wording used). Beneficiaries, given the weekly sessions (or bi-weekly in some cases), felt the PEI was an opportunity to promote interaction with their children and a place to discuss any questions or concerns related to how to raise their children. Concern about learning to manage and educate their children patiently and without violence was of particular interest to mothers.

Parents sought to help their children to build and strengthen their self-esteem, to become independent, and to develop physical skills to help them solve problems. For mothers, the programme was important because it offered the opportunity to improve their relationships with their children. The programme helps them to understand their children's development and thus will affect the way their children will behave in the next stages of their lives.

From the perspective of the beneficiaries, the objectives pursued by the programme were understood to be:

- to improve the socialisation skills of children (help them overcome their fear of living with other children or other people)
- to facilitate the adaptation of children to formal education spaces (entry into preschool)
- to foster better co-existence between mothers and their children
- to create spaces where children can learn more
- to play games and perform activities for early childhood stimulation.

In some cases, from direct questions about the purposes of the programme, beneficiaries noted confusion in their own answers. Thus, they expressed the need to know the objectives established by early childhood education.

This emphasises that groups in the State of Mexico need to be given the precise objectives of the programme and receive guidance in the development of the children involved. For the groups in this state, early childhood education is defined as support to boost the child's skills and physical and social abilities, and to provide an early intervention to improve their language, sense of direction, balance and general physical maturity and co-existence.

The word 'game' took on a special meaning in the activities of the programme. For mothers, it represented an opportunity to learn ways to get along with their children. This was considered a strategy to learn to 'endure' the children's demands for attention. In

addition to games, the beneficiaries referred to the programme's regular activities in meetings: singing; drawing; crafts; exhibitions; lectures (or classes) for mothers; and guidance to promote the healthy development of their children through nutritional care, health and exercise.

In certain cases, there was mention of activities for the development of children's language and motor skills (ball games, practising balancing, whole-word enunciation, etc.) as being perceived to be directly associated with the development of the child. The seven groups considered it useful and important to carry out such activities.

The process of enrolment and incorporation into the programme was perceived to be simple, according to the seven focus groups. Additionally, it did not pose any difficulty for the beneficiaries. That is, the programme does not exclude anyone interested in participating, even if they are unable to present the appropriate documentation for registration. This shows that the programme is easy for the population to access. However, there may be some obstacles when following up on beneficiaries and measuring the effects on children. The lack of complete records for participants and incomplete reports could lead to estimates that differ from reality.

In general, it is possible to identify the motivation of the beneficiaries for entering the programme and staying in it. The incentives were promotion of the development of their children's skills and improvements in their relationships with them, and for the mothers to feel satisfied in their role.

Perceived changes: attitudes, practices and motivations

Actions taken by the PEI focus on rural and indigenous communities characterised by high levels of marginalisation with great educational and social backwardness. Here, educational interventions in early childhood represent an opportunity to improve conditions for the development of children and possibly reduce the inequality of learning conditions.

The beneficiaries participating in the focus groups recognised the opportunity provided by the programme. For them, it was important to help their children grow and develop as well as possible. For the mothers, it was easy to identify the effects of the programme on their children, especially compared with other children of the same age who did not attend the sessions. Attitudes and behaviours highlighted by mothers related to socialisation skills. In this context, these are understood to be a decreased feeling of fear that the child may have in the presence of, or interaction with, people outside the family, whether this means other children or adults.

According to the beneficiaries, they hope to see these skills reflected in the behaviour and reaction of their children when entering pre-school; there should be a smooth and pleasant transition that does not cause feelings of insecurity and neglect. Many beneficiaries mentioned this concern because of previous experiences in which their older children, who were not part of the programme, took a long time to adapt to the school environment.

Another change highly valued by mothers was the perceived development of cognitive, motor and language skills in their children as a result of their participation in the PEI. This made the mothers happy and proud. Additionally, the mothers observed a change in

their own emotions and interactions with their children after participating in the programme. The beneficiaries explained how, previously, performing their daily household chores, usually with more than 1 child (some households had as many as 10), and attending to their children's multiple needs caused them to lose patience quickly. This was reflected in their relationships with their children. Now, because of the early childhood education sessions, they have discovered ways of maintaining their patience using strategies to resolve difficult situations with their children serenely without leading to undesirable reactions.

For mothers, changes in their behaviour include:

- more patience, less scolding
- changes in co-existence; they are more outspoken and talkative
- playing with their children more
- new ways of correcting undesirable behaviour in their children
- establishing routines and schedules to help their children
- consistently expressing their love to their children.

It is very important to note that many mothers, beyond having greater tolerance and calmness when interacting with their children, perceived changes in their own development as individuals and members of their community. Some expressed how, by meeting regularly in the programme sessions, they have learned to speak in public. They have reduced their fear of expressing their thoughts to others and their fear of the situations they face. The vast majority of mothers do not have a place to meet with other mothers outside of their family; some say they do not leave their homes. Thus, this common space also provides a place that encourages the development of the skills and abilities of the mothers. This is definitely a positive element of the programme, worthy of recognition, and adding value to it.

The role of fathers in their children's care is of great importance for the PEI. The programme makes an effort to include father figures. It recognises not only the need for a more equitable sharing of tasks, regardless of gender, but also the positive outcomes that may result from the greater participation and involvement of fathers in their children's education. However, few results could be observed from the focus groups, partly because no fathers or father figures were included in them.

This could be explained by the characteristics of the communities in which the programme is implemented. In these areas of high poverty, high marginalisation and difficult access, working conditions are precarious and economic activity occurs in distant locations that require men to travel outside their community for work. In the best case, one is able to return home the same day, although this requires long commutes. In other situations, where agricultural activity requires being at specific locations during harvest time, the fathers' absences are longer.

Thus, the role of the father is perceived to be mostly recreational rather than educational. While recreational activities are also training, the few spaces available to fathers are reserved for activities that appeal to children. The father is often considered a 'relief', taking over from the mother when she cannot attend to the children for some reason, rather than as a partner in the shared task of parenting.

Fathers know and recognise the benefits of the programme and support or enable the mother's participation in the programme's actions. According to the beneficiaries, fathers see the positive effects of early childhood education on the development of their children, and this strengthens the continuity of mothers and children in the programme.

Interaction with other participants

One of the most important figures or elements in the successful implementation of the proposed educational model for early childhood is the *promotora* or promoter.²⁴

In all groups, it was observed that the figure of the *promotora* is key to communication. The *promotora* provides information about the programme by answering questions, organising sessions (place and schedule only), and offering guidance and leadership. It is not surprising that, in all the communities, participants referred to the *promotora* as the teacher. Thus, the *promotora* also becomes a social agent with great influence in the community. For the beneficiaries, the *promotora* is the expert – the one who knows how to run the meetings and coordinate activities using the materials available.

In addition to the beneficiaries recognising the *promotora*'s knowledge, they also valued the *promotora*'s patience with them. It is important to note that sessions are not suspended when there is insufficient or a complete lack of work materials. The *promotoras* are constantly identifying, constructing and reproducing alternative material for use during the sessions, even when this involves use of their own private resources.

Thus, a large number of beneficiaries were unaware that there is material that should be provided by the programme. In its absence, the *promotora* seeks solutions and addresses the problem through alternative means. In some communities, part of the session even focuses on beneficiaries creating their own materials.

The community values the *promotora* for her closeness and familiarity with both mothers and children. For beneficiaries, the programme rests upon the figure of the *promotora*. It is appropriate to note that some supervisors mentioned that the rules of the programme, which require the *promotora* to be a member of the community in which they perform their functions, were a constraint that sometimes had a direct effect on programme outcomes. It was not always possible for the person in the community with the most skills and abilities in these matters to have the time to act as *promotora*. This forced them to select community members who were available regardless of their merits. Further exploration of this situation is recommended.

From the perspective of the beneficiaries, it was not possible to come to an agreement on the role of programme supervisors. While to some communities, the figure of supervisor was almost as familiar as the *promotora*, in other cases the supervisor was seen only once, and thus their relationship to the programme was unknown.

Although the distances and access to communities represent a significant constraint for frequent visits by educational figures, the fact that the existence of the supervisor was not known in some focus groups is significant.

²⁴ Most of these educational figures are women, but to make the reading of this document more agile, we will refer to both genders.

Therefore, it was observed that the supervisors' level of influence, involvement and effectiveness in the communities were largely a result of their willingness to accomplish their task.

Participation barriers

Beneficiaries described potential barriers to the programme participation process that could limit their participation and the introduction of new mothers or caregivers into it. Participants in all the sessions agreed that time availability sometimes complicated their attendance and participation. This restriction was mainly influenced by household chores and caring for the family. For example, parent–teacher meetings (if their other children already attended school), food preparation, house cleaning, or the health of a family member could reduce the chances that the beneficiary would attend sessions regularly and punctually.

Participants also reported that another factor limiting the integration or constant participation of beneficiaries in the PEI was the responsibility they had to support all their children. The higher the number of children in the family, the less time they had for sessions. One of the characteristics of the communities where the programme is implemented is that women usually have more than two children. Thus, when only one or some of the children are participating in the programme, mothers face the problem of who will care for their other children who do not attend the sessions. In some cases, they choose to bring all their children, and this becomes a distraction during the session.

Occasionally, programme attendance coincides with meetings of other social programmes (such as PROSPERA and *Seguro Popular*) where attendance is mandatory in order to continue receiving benefits (cash and support).

Although the beneficiaries considered the availability of time as a determinant of participation in the PEI, they agreed that participation is more a question of willingness. That type of will is cultivated by the information beneficiaries receive. Five of the seven groups reported that they did not know exactly what the objectives were. Not knowing prevents clarity about the benefits they can gain from joining and staying in the programme.

However, the limiting factor mentioned most often by beneficiaries was the lack of materials or their late delivery. This lack of resources reduces the mothers' participation in activities. The absence of books, teaching resources and work materials meant that, on several occasions, each participant was required to obtain their own tools or materials. This connects the conditions of attendance to the family's economic situation. Sometimes an additional constraint was the lack of suitable space (building and furnishings) in which to carry out the tasks.

Suggested improvements

During the focus groups, it was possible to perceive a positive assessment by the PEI beneficiaries. The programme has been of great help to all participants, even when compared with other social programmes that provide material or financial resources.

Fondness towards the PEI was clear. However, many of the beneficiaries were participating, without having enough information about the benefits they and their children could receive, because acquaintances had recommended it.

Among the proposals mentioned by mothers and caregivers to increase the benefits of the programme was the participation of a child development specialist, such as a paediatrician or psychologist. Although the *promotoras* have a very positive reputation within their communities, specifically in the undertaking of sessions, the recipients were clearly aware of the benefits that specialised services and consulting would offer.

Beneficiaries did not seem to be able to make any specific recommendations regarding implementation of the programme. For them, it all seemed to work as expected. This argument makes sense when remembering that the answers were unclear and imprecise when we talked about the objectives and operation of the programme.

However, participants in all the focus groups suggested actions to improve the implementation of PEI sessions and the activities performed. These included:

- improve facilities to organise physical activities with the children
- increase awareness of the programme and the objectives and activities to be undertaken in each session
- promote the integration of new mothers and encourage them to attend and participate regularly
- promote activities that strengthen emotional expressions between mothers and their children within the sessions
- increase the number of sessions per week or their duration
- promote sessions for children over the age of five, as the beneficiaries expressed the need for a place to attend with children of that age
- provide more crafts that stimulate creativity (handcrafts)
- deliver the materials to the *promotora* in a timely manner
- have sufficient materials available (educational materials, books, stories, colours, toys and stationery goods, among others) to work with during the sessions.

These suggestions relate to the individual experience that each beneficiary has had in the sessions, how they perceive them and the interests they have developed from their participation. The suggestions expressed what they felt should be happening in the sessions and why, without a reference point.

The positive perception of the programme is evident among the beneficiaries. However, it is also possible to identify a set of elements (some indirect) from the focus groups that limit the proper implementation of the early childhood education programme. One of the factors in the programme's fragility is the lack of clarity in the transmission of its objectives. The beneficiaries appeared to have incomplete information and were unsure of what could be achieved by early childhood education. This could be affecting both the implementation and operation of the programme, such as adding participants, including fathers.

The lack of knowledge among users regarding the institutional and operational aspects of the programme represents an undesirable condition for any educational and social programme. If the recipient does not know what to expect, communication channels and mechanisms for improved implementation are severely limited. This is especially so where mothers and caregivers are the first links and key factors in the early childhood education transformation process and are the leading figures in promoting the programme. The complete, or perceived, absence of curricular planning can prevent activities in the regular sessions of the programme from being linked to early childhood learning goals and the development of children. This in turn renders the programme meaningless for current and potential beneficiaries.

The lack of available and properly equipped spaces²⁵ for programme activities and the inadequate and untimely delivery of materials are issues that can be argued from two sides. These shortages have been discouraging for some as they have meant that activities could not be conducted as planned (one cannot work without resources). For others, the shortage has produced an opposite reaction. The effort to search for materials has generated feelings of goodwill, achievement, community cooperation (among beneficiaries), and has improved the bond between mothers and children. It has also provided a meaning to what they are doing: for the sake of the child.

This dual perception of the recipients of the conditions they face in the programme is due in part to the lack of knowledge of the purpose, objectives and players of the early childhood education programme. Whether these are known or not, the socio-economic characteristics and the particular needs of each participant leads to an environment of uneven implementation. Even if the programme is well promoted and the delivery of materials is adequate, financial, cultural and family conditions do not allow participants to gain the maximum amount of knowledge and, to a lesser degree, to see the relevance of activities to their daily lives.

The figure of the *promotora* is one of the strengths of the programme in the creation of the sense of community and a social space for the beneficiaries. In all groups, maintaining cohesive and consistent participation has been achieved through the initiative and commitment of the *promotora*.

Additionally, one of the most significant changes for the beneficiaries and their children is the creation of a living space. Although not a formal objective of the programme, an indirect positive impact on women has been observed. Beneficiaries reported changes in the way they perceive themselves and how they interact in the community. They also see different ways of teaching tolerance and respect to their children. Their knowledge of how to look after their children in a healthy manner is improved, as is their desire for the best cognitive, physical, social and emotional development for their children.

These changes impact parenting practices so substantially that the beneficiaries seek to implement what they have learned in the sessions in their daily lives. They share what they have learned with the rest of their family as much as possible, especially with the father figure. The father seems to want to become more involved in this process, despite being absent because of the characteristics of the communities, financial needs and marked social roles.

Therefore, some recommendations that could improve the operation and effects of the programme are listed below:

 Secure mechanisms, relevant and formal, for the transmission of information to the beneficiaries and the community at large should be put in place. Before and during participation in the programme, it is important that all those directly

²⁵ The spaces are borrowed (from schools, health centres, municipal buildings, parks, soccer fields, etc.) and, therefore, subject to availability according to the needs of the primary occupants.

involved have a common base of knowledge of the programme. This will help consolidate the meaning of why and how to participate in such an initiative;

- Promote awareness of the programme, the aims pursued and the benefits offered to the different target populations with specific emphasis on the incorporation of father figures;
- Keep a record of who takes part in the programme to facilitate monitoring their progress. Apart from being a useful tool to assess the effects of the programme, monitoring is a service to programme beneficiaries themselves;
- Ensure the supply of materials (of all types, but special attention must be placed on bibliographic materials) is timely and of an appropriate quantity so that all adult participants and their children can make effective use of the regular sessions;
- Condition the spaces where the meetings are held. This will strengthen the sense of belonging;
- Clearly inform the beneficiaries of the work plan of each session and the objectives of each activity. This will allow for a direct association between supplies and results;
- Include information on family planning. This has been a factor that directly impacts child rearing and the involvement of the beneficiaries in CONAFE communities;
- Create alternative ways of including fathers in the programme (not necessarily face-to-face activities). Establish the gradual participation of fathers through inhome activities as an objective;
- Strengthen the training processes for promotoras;
- Revise the rules established for *promotora* selection, considering ability, merit and availability. This will provide opportunities for members of nearby communities to take on this role;
- Promote supportive conditions for the educational structure (supervisors) to provide support to *promotoras* and communities. Develop mechanisms to ensure the role of the supervisor is uniformly effective among communities; and
- Consider the participation of health and child development specialists in some sessions (for parents and children).

4. Policy implications and next steps

Implementation of the PEI for almost two decades without an impact evaluation has resulted in the institutionalisation of practices and criteria without adequate evidence to support them. Based on the information collected (qualitative and quantitative), the interpretation of findings and interactions with public officials, we identified the following implications as key aspects to be considered in a potential redesign of the programme.

4.1 Implication 1: Targeting

Based on the information collected and the analysis conducted during our evaluation, it seems that the PEI must revise the criteria used to select communities in which this programme can be implemented. Furthermore, it seems that there is a problem of self-selection that may result in deeper inequalities in these communities because organised communities are usually selected to be part of the PEI. As has been mentioned, explicit

and public formulas or calculations to identify potential communities may result in a more effective implementation of this programme. In addition, by defining targeting criteria, overlap with other programmes could possibly be reduced.

4.2 Implication 2: Local capacities

Just as in any other programme implemented in Mexico through collaboration with state or local units, there is a huge variation across local groups regarding expertise, experience, commitment and formal training. This factor may indeed explain variations regarding implementation fidelity and quality of services. Thus, it is urgent to intervene and implement professional development programmes for local staff from CONAFE. The objective of this intervention would be to foster coordination and increase the capacity to support rural communities included in the PEI.

4.3 Implication 3: Implementation

As has been mentioned, one of the key aspects to be addressed in future evaluations is the provision of further information addressing how to improve the implementation of the PEI. Based on the information collected, it seems that CONAFE has not put enough resources into improving the implementation of the PEI, resulting in inefficiencies.

Furthermore, it came to our attention that organisational structures across CONAFE's state offices throughout the country vary, making it even more difficult to ensure appropriate implementation of the PEI. An analysis is needed to identify how to improve collaboration within CONAFE and with state governments across the country.

4.4 Implication 4: Incentives and coordination with other programmes

An important point mentioned during the focus groups and observation visits in the PEI communities was the difficulty in organising PEI sessions in communities where CCT programmes are implemented. This suggests that it might be necessary to encourage further collaboration and coordination with other federal agencies to ensure an efficient distribution of public resources and the inclusion of more beneficiaries.

4.5 Implication 5: Local cultures

Even though the participatory component of the PEI may result in an intervention reflecting local cultures and conditions, we observed how some traditions in rural communities may affect the implementation of the programme. For instance, we observed how parents may reject *promotoras* who have studied outside of their communities.

This is only one example of several possible reactions to the programme that will require either adaptations of curriculum or modifications of the suggested procedures to organise weekly meetings.

4.6 Implication 6: Type of skills and the magnitude of effects

Data from the impact evaluation suggest that the programme has achieved some moderate results regardless of the low take-up and the problems observed during the implementation of the PEI. However, the group of skills in which we observed significant

differences could be considered to be of low complexity. This would suggest that it might be necessary to carefully analyse whether achieving different effects and magnitudes should become a short-term goal.

In addition, results may suggest that it is necessary to analyse carefully the theory of change of the PEI to understand whether it must be redesigned or reoriented.

4.7 Implication 7: Construction of an education management information system

Based on the quality of information available at CONAFE, it might be necessary to evaluate whether the construction of an information system is required. This intervention will help not only to design and conduct impact evaluations in the near future, but also reorganise databases and administrative information that is currently ignored during the policy design and implementation processes.

Appendix: Tables

Table A1: Balance between treated and controls in the baseline

Households	
Number of members	0.7178***
Under 60 months	0.0336***
Pregnant women	0.0049
Members that speak Spanish	0.0002
Members that can read and write	0.0001
Housing conditions	
Cement roof	1.1113
Dirt floor	0.0452*
Walls	0.1026
Total rooms	0.0431
l otal bedrooms	0.1551***
Days with electrical power	0.0094
Drainage	0.2052**
Goods	
Gas stove	0.0345
Wood stove	0.0556*
Water tank	0.0148
Boiler	0.017
Cistern	0.017
Shower	0.0355
Power meter	0.0434*
Automobile	0.0332
Internet	0.0085
Computer	0.017
Telephone	0.0138
Cellular phone	0.0167
Washer	0.0061
Refrigerator	0.0007
	0.009
Radio	0.0069
Caregivers	
Age of the child	0.0233
Time living in the community	0.9353
Mentioned a second caregiver	0.0304
PROSPERA recipient	0.0763***
Seguro Popular recipient	0.0121
Procampo recipient	0.0095
Scholarship recipient	0.012
Senior citizen recipient	0.0063
Economic support from someone in the country	0.0033
Economic support from someone outside the country	0.0016
Was treated in a government clinic	0.0304
0 to 36 months	
Children's books	0.061
Stories	0.4009***
Plush toys	0.0252
Full luys Parante live tegether	0.0003
Facture to yether the child eats with father	0.0000
i requency with which the child eats with lattlet	0.0049

Frequency of speaking with the child	0.0936
Closeness of the child with father	0.0241
Closeness of the child with mother	0.0176
Corporal punishment	0.0808
36 to 42 months	
Children's books	0.0944
Magazines	0.0773
Device for listening to music	0.0255
Helps child learn numbers	0.0091
Helps child learn letters	0.017
Helps child learn shapes and sizes	0.0584
Child chooses what to eat	0.3534**
Visits museums and historical sites	0.3011**
Parents live together	0.1105**
Frequency with which the child eats with father	0.1921
Closeness of the child with father	0.0277
Closeness of the child with mother	0.0301
Corporal punishment	0.0171
Child rearing practices	
Medical check-ups	0.0122
Plays with the child	0.015
Sings with the child	0.0277
Musical instrument	0.0058
Child illness	0.0419
Educational achievement expectations	0.0665
Pre-school registration	0.0065
Age at pre-school registration	0.0122
Pregnant women	
Economic support	
PROSPERA recipient	0.019
Seguro Popular recipient	
Procampo recipient	
Scholarship recipient	
Support from persons living in another country	
Months since delivery	
Care during pregnancy	
Medical check-ups	
	0.16
Non-prescribed medicine	0.16 0.037
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages	0.16 0.037 0.051
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee Drinks soft drinks	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087 0.269
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee Drinks soft drinks Someone smokes inside the dwelling	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087 0.269 0.021
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee Drinks soft drinks Someone smokes inside the dwelling Change of diet	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087 0.269 0.021 0.115
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee Drinks soft drinks Someone smokes inside the dwelling Change of diet Care after pregnancy	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087 0.269 0.021 0.115
Non-prescribed medicine Drinks alcoholic beverages Drinks coffee Drinks soft drinks Someone smokes inside the dwelling Change of diet Care after pregnancy Breastfeeding	0.16 0.037 0.051 0.087 0.269 0.021 0.115

Months of lactation	0.974
Babies are aware of what is going on around them	N/A
Pre-school registration	1.022
Expectation of achieving more than a basic education	0.174

Fathers	
Time living in the community	1.366
Medical check-ups	0.015
Plays with the child	0
Sings with the child	0.026
Helps in preparing the child's meals	0.119
Helps to feed the child	0.169***
Helps to dress the child	0.096
Carries the child	0.024
Closeness to the child	0.376***
Educational achievement expectations	0.156
Pre-school registration	0
Social behaviour	
Smokes	0.067
Smokes in the home	0.286
Decides spending without asking	0.020
Has financial problems	0.151
Speaks with family to solve problems	0.061
Speaks with family when sad	0.033
Speaks with family when angry	0.083
Drinks alcoholic beverages	0.002
Argues with spouse	0.036
Speaks about children with other parents	0.223

Table A2: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 0–3 years

Variable	Wave	P-values	Q-values
Together with child	T1	0.114	0.143
	T2	0.176	0.176
Spoke to child	T1	0.335	0.419
	T2	0.879	0.879
Responded to child	T1	0.021	0.053
	T2	0.586	0.586
Hugged/kissed child	T1	0.284	0.355
	T2	0.089	0.149
Spankings	T1	0.318	0.428
	T2	0.342	0.428
Interfered with child's actions	T1	0.472	0.590
	T2	0.793	0.793
Gave games	T1	0.538	0.538
	T2	0.154	0.192
Kept child in sight	T1	0.264	0.330
	T2	0.575	0.575
Safe place to play	T1	0.254	0.418
	T2	0.745	0.745

Outcome	Wave	P-value	Q-value
Together with child	T1	0.275	0.459
	T2	0.034	0.084
Spoke to child	T1	0.741	0.741
	T2	0.184	0.460
Responded to child	T1	0.531	0.681
	T2	0.330	0.681
Hugged/kissed child	T1	0.753	0.970
	T2	0.970	0.970
Introduced children	T1	0.637	0.756
	T2	0.756	0.756
Restricted child's actions	T1	0.078	0.142
	T2	0.203	0.254
Spanking	T1	0.807	0.807
	T2	0.803	0.807
Positive attitude	T1	0.300	0.300
	T2	0.073	0.091
Safe play place	T1	0.910	0.910
	T2	0.623	0.910
Dark house	T1	0.178	0.242
	T2	0.193	0.242
Clean rooms	T1	0.424	0.530
	T2	0.793	0.793
House not packed	T1	0.195	0.243
	T2	0.752	0.752

Table A3: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 3–6 years

Table A4: Impact on observed parenting practices on children aged 0-6 years

Outcome	Wave	P-value	Q-value
Together with child	T1	0.212	0.265
	T2	0.757	0.757
Spoke to child	T1	0.295	0.492
	T2	0.579	0.579
Responded to child	T1	0.042	0.106
	T2	0.576	0.576
Hugged/kissed child	T1	0.695	0.695
	T2	0.508	0.635
Spankings	T1	0.245	0.409
	T2	0.896	0.896
Interfered with child's actions	T1	0.267	0.334
	T2	0.737	0.737
Safe play place	T1	0.325	0.542
	T2	0.715	0.715

Outcome	Wave	P-value	Q-value
Told stories at least once a week	T1	0.609	0.609
	T2	0.303	0.379
The child had more than one book	T1	0.965	0.965
	T2	0.083	0.104
There was a magazine at home	T1	0.740	0.911
	T2	0.911	0.911
The child has an instrument to listen to music	T1	0.099	0.166
	T2	0.238	0.238
The child could listen to tapes	T1	0.133	0.166
	T2	0.246	0.246
Helped learn numbers	T1	0.172	0.215
	T2	0.257	0.257
Helped learn letters	T1	0.301	0.301
	T2	0.210	0.263
Helped learn colours	T1	0.599	0.599
	T2	0.279	0.348
Helped learn shapes and dimensions	T1	0.967	0.967
	T2	0.483	0.604
Allowed the child to choose food	T1	0.691	0.864
	T2	0.317	0.792
Took the child out several times a week	T1	0.375	0.469
	T2	0.275	0.459
Took the child to a historic place or museum last year	T1	0.543	0.931
	T2	0.690	0.931
How much TV was watched at home on weekdays? (hours)	T1	0.674	0.843
	T2	0.906	0.906
How much TV was watched somewhere else on weekdays?	T1	0.569	0.896
(hours)	T2	0.807	0.896
How much TV was watched at home on weekends? (hours)	T1	0.494	0.818
	T2	0.615	0.818
How much TV was watched somewhere else on weekend?	T1	0.582	0.582
(hours)	T2	0.387	0.582
How long is the TV on? (hours)	T1	0.701	0.843
	T2	0.843	0.843
Parents lived together	T1	0.378	0.378
	T2	0.095	0.187
The child saw the father every day	T1	0.940	0.940
	T2	0.909	0.940
The child ate with the parents more than once a day	T1	0.336	0.560
	T2	0 741	0 741
The child was very attached to the father	T1	0.135	0.168
	T2	0.751	0.751
Responded to children when they required attention even if	T1	0.176	0.441
busy	T2	0.507	0.845
The child was very attached to the mother	T1	0.594	0.742
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	T2	0.909	0.909
How many spankings were given in the past week?	T1	0.099	0.247
	T2	0.795	0.795

Table A5: Impact on reported parenting practices on children aged 3-6 years

Skills	Wave	P-value	Q-value
Communication	T1	0.095	0.239
	T2	0.299	0.373
Gross motor	T1	0.085	0.141
	T2	0.333	0.417
Fine motor	T1	0.384	0.842
	T2	0.508	0.842
Problem solving	T1	0.896	0.896
	T2	0.362	0.830
Social	T1	0.676	0.981
	T2	0.981	0.981
Total	T1	0.195	0.487
	T2	0.952	0.952

Table A6: Impact on child development

References

Aboud, FE, 2007. Evaluation of an early childhood parenting program in rural Bangladesh. *Journal of Health, Population, and Nutrition,* 25(1), pp. 3–13. Available at: http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC3013259/

ACUDE, 2013. Reporte final del Proyecto Análisis teórico metodológico del Modelo de *Educación Inicial de CONAFE para su fortalecimiento*. Mexico City: Hacia una Cultura Democrática, A.C. Available at:

<http://www.conafe.gob.mx/transparencia1/estudiosyopiniones/InforFinalAnaTeoMetoMo dConafe.pdf>

Araujo, MC, López-Boo, F and Puyana, JM, 2013. *Panorama Sobre Desarrollo Infantil en América Latina y el Caribe.* Washington, DC: División de Protección Social y Salud, Banco Interamericano de Desarrollo.

Al-Hassan, SM and Lansford, JE, 2011. Evaluation of the better parenting program in Jordan. *Early Childhood Development Care*, 181(5), pp.587–598. Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/03004431003654925.

Barnett, WS, 1996. *Lives in the balance: Benefit-cost analysis of the Perry Preschool Program through age 27.* Monographs of the High/Scope Educational Research Foundation. Ypsilanti, MI: High/Scope Press.

Barnett, WS and Masse, LN, 2007. Comparative benefit–cost analysis of the Abecedarian program and its policy implications. *Economics of Education Review*, 26(1), pp.113–125.

Benjamini, Y and Hochberg, Y, 1995. Controlling the false discovery rate: A practical and powerful approach to multiple testing. *Journal of the Royal Statistical Society. Series B (Methodological)*, 57(1), pp.289–300.

Bradley, RH and Caldwell, BM, 1984. The Relation of Infants' Home Environments to Achievement Test Performance in First Grade: A Follow-Up Study. *Child Development*, 55(3), pp.803–809.

Bradley, RH, Caldwell, BM, Brisby, J, Magee, M, Whiteside, L and Rock, SL, 1992. The HOME inventory: A new scale for families of pre- and early adolescent children with disabilities. *Research in Developmental Disabilities*, 13(4), pp.313–333. DOI: 10.1016/0891-4222(92)90009-U.

Bronfenbrenner, U, 1994. Ecological models of human development. *International Encyclopedia of Education*, Vol. 3. Oxford: Elsevier.

Bureau of Labor Statistics, 2012. *National Longitudinal Survey of Youth 1979 cohort, 1979–2010 (rounds 1–24)*. Columbus, OH: Center for Human Resource Research, Ohio State University.

CONAFE, 2012. *Paso a paso: Guía para el desarrollo de sesiones.* Mexico, D.F.: Consejo Nacional de Fomento Educativo.

CONEVAL 2015. *Anexo Estadístico de Pobreza en México.* Mexico City: Consejo Nacional de Evaluación de la Política Social. Available at: http://www.coneval.org.mx/Medicion/MP/Paginas/AE_pobreza_2014.aspx

Edeza, D, 2010. Early Childhood Care and Education in a Comparative Perspective: A Review of Effective and Ineffective Programs, HGSE Field Experience Program Report, unpublished manuscript.

Engle, PL, Lia, CH, Fernald, AH, Behrman, J, O'Gara, C, Yousafzai, A, Cabral de Mello, M, Hidrobo, M, Ulkuer, N, Ertem, I, Iltus, S, The Global Child Development Steering Group, 2011. Strategies for reducing inequalities and improving developmental outcomes for young children in low-income and middle-income countries. *The Lancet*, 378(9799), pp.1339–1353. Doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(11)60889-1.

Gertler, P, Heckman, J, Pinto, R, Zanolini, A, Vermeersch, C, Walker, S, Chang, SM and Grantham-McGregor, S, 2014. Labor market returns to an early childhood stimulation intervention in Jamaica. *Science*, 344(6187), pp.998–1001.

Heckman, JJ, Moon, SH, Pinto, R, Savelyev, PA and Yavitz, A, 2010. The rate of return to the HighScope Perry Preschool Program. *Journal of Public Economics*, 94(1–2), pp.114–128.

McEwan, R, 2011. *Cost-Effectiveness Analysis of Education and Health Interventions in Developing Countries*. Inter-American Development Bank Impact-Evaluation Guidelines. Technical Notes No. IDB-TN-332.

Myers, R, Martínez, A, Delgado, MA, Fernández, JL and Martínez, A, 2013. *Desarrollo Infantil Temprano en México: Diagnóstico y Recomendaciones*. Washington, DC: Inter-American Development Bank. Available at: http://idbdocs.iadb.org/wsdocs/getdocument.aspx?docnum=37427911

Nores, M and Barnett, WS, 2010. Benefits of early childhood interventions across the world: (under) Investing in the very young. *Economics of Education Review*, 29(2), pp. 271–282. Doi: 10.1016/j.econedurev.2009.09.001.

Paxson, C and Schady, N, 2007. Cognitive development among young children in Ecuador: the role of health, wealth and parenting. *Journal of Human Resources*, 42(1), pp.49–84.

Raudenbush, SW, Spybrook, J, Congdon, R, Liu, X, Martinez, A and Bloom, H, 2011. Optimal Design Software for Multi-level and Longitudinal Research (Version 3.01) [Software]. Available from: <www.wtgrantfoundation.org>

Sayre, R and Ed, M, 2012. Finding Program Impacts from Early Childhood Care and Education Interventions. HGSE Field Experience Program Report, unpublished manuscript.

Squires, Jand Bricker, D, 2009. *Ages & Stages Questionnaires, Third Edition (ASQ-3).* Baltimore, MD: Brookes Publishing.

Tinajero, AR, 2010. Scaling-up early child development in Cuba – Cuba's Educate Your Child program: strategies and lessons from the expansion process. Wolfensohn Center for Development Working Paper 16. Washington, DC: Brookings Institution.

UNESCO, 2010. Concept Paper, The World Conference on Early Childhood Care and Education, Division of Basic Education. Paris: UNESCO. Available at: http://www.unesco.org/fileadmin/MULTIMEDIA/HQ/ED/ED_new/World_Conference-ECCE/PDF/ConceptPaper-finalversion.pdf

Vegas, E and Santibáñez, I, 2010. *The Promise of Early Childhood Development in Latin America and the Caribbean.* Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: http://siteresources.worldbank.org/EDUCATION/Resources/278200-1099079877269/547664-1099079922573/ECD_LAC.pdf

World Bank, 2010. *Mexico – Compensatory Education Project. Project Appraisal Document*. Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: http://documents.worldbank.org/curated/en/2010/02/11913044/mexico-compensatory-education-project>

World Bank, 2012. *World Development Report 2012: Gender Equality and Development*. Washington, DC: World Bank. Available at: https://openknowledge.worldbank.org/handle/10986/4391>

Other publications in the 3ie Impact Evaluation Report Series

The following reports are available from http://www.3ieimpact.org/en/publications/3ie-impact-evaluation-reports/3ie-impact-evaluations/

The Better Obstetrics in Rural Nigeria study: an impact evaluation of the Nigerian *Midwives Service Scheme, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 56.* Okeke, E, Glick, P, Abubakar, IS, Chari, AV, Pitchforth, E, Exley, J, Bashir, U, Setodji, C, Gu, K and Onwujekwe, O, 2017.

The Productive Safety Net Programme in Ethiopia: impacts on children's schooling, labour and nutritional status, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 55. Berhane, G, Hoddinott, Kumar, N and Margolies, A, 2016.

The impact of youth skills training on the financial behaviour, employability and educational choice in Morocco, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 54. Bausch, J, Dyer, P, Gardiner, D, Kluve, J and Mizrokhi, E, 2016.

Using advertisements to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 53. Frade, S, Friedman, W, Rech, D and Wilson, N, 2016.

The use of peer referral incentives to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 52. Zanolini, A, Bolton, C, Lyabola, LL, Phiri, G, Samona, A, Kaonga, A and Harsha Thirumurthy, H, 2016.

Using smartphone raffles to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Tanzania, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 51. Mahler, H and Bazant, E, 2016

Voluntary medical male circumcision uptake through soccer in Zimbabwe, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 50. DeCelles, J, Kaufman, Z, Bhauti, K, Hershow, R, Weiss, H, Chaibva, C, Moyo, N, Braunschweig, E, Mantula, F, Hatzold, K and Ross, D, 2016.

Measuring the impact of SMS-based interventions on uptake of voluntary medical male circumcision in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 49. Leiby, K, Connor, A, Tsague, L, Sapele, C, Koanga, A, Kakaire, J and Wang, P, 2016.

Assessing the impact of delivering messages through intimate partners to create demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Uganda. *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 48.* Semeere, AS, Bbaale, DS, Castelnuovo, B Kiragga, A, Kigozi, J, Muganzi, A, Kambugu, A and Coutinho, AG, 2016.

Optimising the use of economic interventions to increase demand for voluntary medical male circumcision in Kenya, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 47. Thirumurthy, H, Omanga, E, Rao, SO, Murray, K, Masters, S and Agot, K, 2016.

Estimating the impact and cost-effectiveness of expanding access to secondary education in Ghana 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 42. Dupas, P, Duflo, E and Kremer, M, 2015

The impact of earned and windfall cash transfers on livelihoods and conservation in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 46. Bulte, E, Conteh, B, Kontoleon, A, List, J, Mokuwa, E, Richards, P, Turley, T and Voors, M (2016)

Property tax experiment in Pakistan: Incentivising tax collection and improving performance, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 45.* Khan, A, Khwaja, A and Olken, B (2016)

Impact of mobile message reminders on tuberculosis treatment outcomes in Pakistan, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 44.* Mohammed, S, Glennerster, R and Khan, A (2016)

Making networks work for policy: Evidence from agricultural technology adoption in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 43. Beaman, L, BenYishay, A, Fatch, P, Magruder, J and Mobarak, AM (2016)

Evaluating the effectiveness of computers as tutors in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 41. Mo, D, Bai, Y, Boswell, M and Rozelle, S (2016)

Effectiveness of a rural sanitation programme on diarrhoea, soil-transmitted helminth infection and malnutrition in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 38. Clasen, T, Boisson, S, Routray, P, Torondel, B, Bell, M, Cumming, O, Ensink, J, Freeman, M and Jenkins, M (2016)

Evaluating the impact of vocational education vouchers on out-of-school youth in Kenya, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 37.* Hicks, JH, Kremer, M, Mbiti, I and Miguel, E (2016)

Improving maternal and child health in India: evaluating demand and supply strategies, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 30.* Mohanan, M, Miller, G, Forgia, GL, Shekhar, S and Singh, K (2016)

A triple win? The impact of Tanzania's Joint Forest Management programme on livelihoods, governance and forests, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 34. Persha, L and Meshack, C (2016)

Removing barriers to higher education in Chile: evaluation of peer effects and scholarships for test preparation 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 36. Banerjee, A, Duflo E and Gallego, F (2016)

Sustainability of impact: dimensions of decline and persistence in adopting a biofortified crop in Uganda 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 35. McNiven, S, Gilligan, DO and Hotz, C (2016)

Micro entrepreneurship support programme in Chile, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 40. Martínez, CA, Puentes, EE and Ruiz-Tagle, JV (2016)

Thirty-five years later: evaluating the impacts of a child health and family planning programme in Bangladesh, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 39. Barham, T, Kuhn, R, Menken, J and Razzaque, A (2016)

Can egovernance reduce capture of public programmes? Experimental evidence from India's employment guarantee, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 31. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Mathew, S and Pande, R (2015)

Smallholder access to weather securities in India: demand and impact on production decisions, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 28.* Ceballos, F, Manuel, I, Robles, M and Butler, A (2015)

What happens once the intervention ends? The medium-term impacts of a cash transfer programme in Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 27. Baird, S, Chirwa, E, McIntosh, C, and Özler, B (2015)

Validation of hearing screening procedures in Ecuadorian schools, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 26. Muñoz, K, White, K, Callow-Heusser, C and Ortiz, E (2015)

Assessing the impact of farmer field schools on fertilizer use in China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 25. Burger, N, Fu, M, Gu, K, Jia, X, Kumar, KB and Mingliang, G (2015)

The SASA! study: a cluster randomised trial to assess the impact of a violence and HIV prevention programme in Kampala, Uganda, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 24. Watts, C, Devries, K, Kiss, L, Abramsky, T, Kyegombe, N and Michau, L (2014)

Enhancing food production and food security through improved inputs: an evaluation of Tanzania's National Agricultural Input Voucher Scheme with a focus on gender impacts, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report* 23. Gine, X, Patel, S, Cuellar-Martinez, C, McCoy, S and Lauren, R (2015)

A wide angle view of learning: evaluation of the CCE and LEP programmes in Haryana, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report* 22. Duflo, E, Berry, J, Mukerji, S and Shotland, M (2015)

Shelter from the storm: upgrading housing infrastructure in Latin American slums, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 21. Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Cooper, R, Martinez, S, Ross, A and Undurraga, R (2015)

Environmental and socioeconomic impacts of Mexico's payments for ecosystem services programme, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 20.* Alix-Garcia, J, Aronson, G, Radeloff, V, Ramirez-Reyes, C, Shapiro, E, Sims, K and Yañez-Pagans, P (2015)

A randomised evaluation of the effects of an agricultural insurance programme on rural households' behaviour: evidence from China, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 19. Cai, J, de Janvry, A and Sadoulet, E (2014)

Impact of malaria control and enhanced literacy instruction on educational outcomes among school children in Kenya: a multi-sectoral, prospective, randomised evaluation, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 18. Brooker, S and Halliday, K (2015)*

Assessing long-term impacts of conditional cash transfers on children and young adults in rural Nicaragua, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 17. Barham, T, Macours, K, Maluccio, JA, Regalia, F, Aguilera, V and Moncada, ME (2014)

The impact of mother literacy and participation programmes on child learning: evidence from a randomised evaluation in India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 16. Banerji, R, Berry, J and Shortland, M (2014)

A youth wage subsidy experiment for South Africa, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 15. Levinsohn, J, Rankin, N, Roberts, G and Schöer, V (2014)

Providing collateral and improving product market access for smallholder farmers: a randomised evaluation of inventory credit in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 14. Casaburi, L, Glennerster, R, Suri, T and Kamara, S (2014)

Scaling up male circumcision service provision: results from a randomised evaluation in *Malawi, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 13.* Thornton, R, Chinkhumba, J, Godlonton, S and Pierotti, R (2014)

Targeting the poor: evidence from a field experiment in Indonesia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 12. Atlas, V, Banerjee, A, Hanna, R, Olken, B, Wai-poi, M and Purnamasari, R (2014)

An impact evaluation of information disclosure on elected representatives' performance: evidence from rural and urban India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 11. Banerjee, A, Duflo, E, Imbert, C, Pande, R, Walton, M and Mahapatra, B (2014)

Truth-telling by third-party audits and the response of polluting firms: Experimental evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 10. Duflo, E, Greenstone, M, Pande, R and Ryan, N (2013)

No margin, no mission? Evaluating the role of incentives in the distribution of public goods in Zambia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 9. Ashraf, N, Bandiera, O and Jack, K (2013)

Paying for performance in China's battle against anaemia, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 8. Zhang, L, Rozelle, S and Shi, Y (2013)

Social and economic impacts of Tuungane: final report on the effects of a communitydriven reconstruction programme in the Democratic Republic of Congo, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 7. Humphreys, M, Sanchez de la Sierra, R and van der Windt, P (2013)

The impact of daycare on maternal labour supply and child development in Mexico, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 6. Angeles, G, Gadsden, P, Galiani, S, Gertler, P, Herrera, A, Kariger, P and Seira, E (2014)

Impact evaluation of the non-contributory social pension programme 70 y más in Mexico, *3ie Impact Evaluation Report 5.* Rodríguez, A, Espinoza, B, Tamayo, K, Pereda, P, Góngora, V, Tagliaferro, G and Solís, M (2014)

Does marginal cost pricing of electricity affect groundwater pumping behaviour of farmers? Evidence from India, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 4. Meenakshi, JV, Banerji, A, Mukherji, A and Gupta, A (2013)

The GoBifo project evaluation report: Assessing the impacts of community-driven development in Sierra Leone, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 3. Casey, K, Glennerster, R and Miguel, E (2013)

A rapid assessment randomised-controlled trial of improved cookstoves in rural Ghana, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 2. Burwen, J and Levine, DI (2012)

The promise of preschool in Africa: A randomised impact evaluation of early childhood development in rural Mozambique, 3ie Impact Evaluation Report 1. Martinez, S, Naudeau, S and Pereira, V (2012)

In Mexico, a range of programmes focus on early childhood development. This impact evaluation examined the Programa Educación Inicial (Early Education Programme) in Mexico. This non-formal education programme provides training to pregnant women, parents and caregivers of children from birth to four years of age, living in highly marginalised, rural communities. It includes early stimulation practices to promote children's cognitive development and the development of adequate parenting practices.

The study shows that the take-up of the programme by families was very low. It had a positive impact on parenting practices. Direct effects on childhood development were observed for younger children. However, the effects were more muted in the second year and among three- and four-year olds.

Impact Evaluation Series

International Initiative for Impact Evaluation 202-203, Rectangle One D-4, Saket District Centre New Delhi – 110017 India

3ie@3ieimpact.org Tel: +91 11 4989 4444

